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We have successfully completed another year with increased revenue, owing to the significant 

contribution from our residential property projects. At a time of economic challenge and 

stiff competition, we consider this an achievement and proof of our commitment to deliver 

stakeholders’ value.

As we prepare for yet another financial year, we examine our abilities that have allowed us to 

meet expectations despite unpredictable circumstances.

Experienced and brilliant, we pride ourselves as a human capital-based firm that delivers 

only the highest standards of interior design. The quality that we serve is tantamount to the 

unique people that make up the Company, that is, individuals who are focused on delivering 

talent, integrity and excellence in the work that they do.

Such exceptional manpower would be at times complicated to handle but we at Design 

Studio relish in diversity. After many years of operation, we have established a robust system 

of working together for the successive growth of the Company. We have formed a symphony 

of talents whose melodies and cadences can be translated into outstanding workmanship 

and sustainable value. Moving ahead we expect different challenges to arise, but with such 

a dynamic workforce behind us, we are confident in our progress in the years to come.





1Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

2 Chairman’s

Statement

23
Corporate

Structure

6
CEO’s Business

Review

26 Board of

Directors

16
Financial

Highlights

30 Corporate

Information

20
Financial 

Summary

Contents



2 Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

Design Studio Group delivered a strong set of financial 

results for the year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”) 

to mark our eighth straight year of profitability. This 

commendable performance was achieved in a year 

marked by economic challenges exacerbated by slowing 

growth in Asia, fears of a Euro crisis, and property cooling 

measures implemented by regulators in markets which the 

Group operates.   

Amidst these challenging circumstances, the Group 

posted revenue of S$178.1 million in FY2013, an increase 

of 10.9% from S$160.6 million in the previous year. This 

healthy increase was driven by the Residential division 

which grew 44.1% to S$72.0 million, partially offset by lower 

revenue contribution from the Distribution division which 

declined 68.4% to S$2.1 million. Revenue contribution 

from the Hospitality and Commercial division remained 

almost unchanged at S$104.0 million during the year. Net 

profit after tax remained relatively flat at S$11.9 million in 

FY2013, compared with S$11.3 million in FY2012. 

The Group generated healthy cash inflow of S$17.9 million 

in FY2013, demonstrating the resilience of its business 

model through different phases of the market cycle. 

As of 31 December 2013, the Group’s balance sheet 

remained healthy, with a strong cash position of S$44.9 

million, compared to S$29.1 million as of 31 December 

2012.  

Strategic Focus on Quality and Efficiency

Following an internal strategic review in 2013, the Board 

announced the restructuring of the Group’s corporate 

structure. The restructuring [which has been completed] 

would see the Company operate as an investment holding 

company and the distinct segregation of the Group’s 

various business segments. This would enable the Group 

to more effectively manage each segment, and enhance 

business focus and accountability within the Group. 

Going forward, the Group’s core businesses would be 

segregated into: Manufacturing and Project Management. 

To better reflect our new profile, business activities and 

business direction as an investment holding company, 

the Company was renamed ‘Design Studio Group Ltd’ in 

January 2014.

Notwithstanding these changes, our values and business 

objectives remain unchanged. We will continue to build 

on Design Studio’s established brand name, which is 

underpinned by a solid track record of delivering high-

quality, innovative products and projects to leading 

developers in Singapore and overseas. 

Our fundamental strengths in project management, 

customer engagement and manufacturing, have allowed 

us to form long-term relationships with customers and 

clinch high-profile residential, hospitality and commercial 

projects through the various market cycles. We will 

continue to enhance our capabilities in these areas by 

strengthening our human capital through training and 

talent development. This will ensure that our employees 

have the necessary knowledge and technical skills to take 

our products and service delivery to the next level. We 

will continue to strengthen our cost control measures in 

order to further improve productivity and efficiency in the 

manufacturing processes across the Group.
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2014 and Beyond

Moving forward, the Group will continue to focus on its key 

markets: Singapore, Malaysia and China, while adopting a 

mindful and prudent approach in seeking viable projects 

into new export markets. 

Singapore, our largest market accounting for 72.2% of our 

total revenue in FY2013, recorded an estimated economic 

growth rate of 3.7%1 ,while Malaysia, the Group’s second 

largest market accounting for 24.2% of our total revenue 

in FY2013, is expected to record a GDP growth rate of 

4.6%2 during the period. With respect to these markets, 

the Group remains moderately optimistic of overcoming 

the challenging operating environment heightened by the 

prevailing property cooling measures, increased labour 

costs, uncertainty surrounding rising interest rates and a 

tighter credit environment.  

China continues to be a strategic market for the Group. 

Despite having reported slowing growth over the past 

three years, the country continues to be one of the fastest 

growing economies in the world with a forecast growth 

rate of approximately 7.7%3 in FY2013. We will take a 

measured and prudent approach to our China growth 

plans, which will better position the Group to tap into the 

diverse opportunities in the growing markets of China over 

the longer-term.

A Word of Appreciation 

On behalf of the Board, I wish to extend my sincere gratitude 

to our management and staff for their hard work, foresight, 

dedication and contributions; and our clients, business 

partners and vendors for their trust and unwavering 

support. I would also like to thank all our shareholders for 

your confidence in, as well as your continued loyalty to and 

support for Design Studio.

I am confident that with your continued support, we 

will overcome the challenges ahead to further grow our 

business and build on our leadership position in the 

industry. 

Tan Siok Chin (Ms)
Non-Executive Chairman

1.  Department of Statistics, Singapore (www.singstat.gov.sg)

2.  “Economic and Financial Developments in Malaysia in the Fourth Quarter of 2013”, Bank Negara Malaysia, 12 Feb 2014

3.  “China economic growth rate stabilises at 7.7%”, BBC News, 20 January 2014

4.  As at 28 February 2014

To thank our shareholders for their continued trust and support, and to mark 

our 8th consecutive year of healthy cash flows and profitability, the Board is 

pleased to propose a special dividend of 5.00 cents per share in addition to 

a final dividend of 1.00 cents per share. Combined with the interim dividend 

of 0.50 cents per share declared in August 2013, the Board is proposing a 

record dividend distribution of 6.50 cents per share in FY2013, providing our 

shareholders with an attractive dividend yield of 13.5% based on the closing 

price of S$0.48 per share4.
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2013

2014 1

2013

2013 10.9% 2012

16 060 17 810

2012 44.1% 7 200

68.4%

10 400

2013 1 190 2012

1,130

2013 1 790

2013 2 31

4 490 2012 12 31 2 910
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2013

72.2% 3.7%1

2013 24.2%

4.6%2

2013 7.7%3

1.00 5.00

2013 8 0.50 2013

6.50 0.484 13.5%

 (www.singstat.gov.sg)

2. “Economic and Financial Developments in Malaysia in the Fourth Quarter of 2013”, 2014 2 12

3. “China economic growth rate stabilises at 7.7%”, BBC 2014 1 20

2014 2 28
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CEO’s Business Review
Dear Shareholders,

During the year, we focused on delivering greater operational 

efficiencies and enhancing our service delivery, ensuring 

that Design Studio continues to be a partner of choice 

with reputable, brand-name developers in Singapore and 

overseas.   

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), Group 

revenue increased 10.9% to S$178.1 million from S$160.6 

million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (“FY2012”).  

The increase was mainly due to higher revenue contribution 

from the Residential division, partially offset by a decline in 

Distribution projects during the period. 

The Group’s Residential division overcame weak market 

and investor sentiments arising from the property cooling 

measures introduced by the local authorities during the year 

and recorded a 44.1% increase in revenue to S$72.0 million 

in FY2013.  The Residential division accounted for 40.4% of 

total Group revenue in FY2013, compared to 31.1% in the 

previous year.  

The Group’s Hospitality and Commercial division, continued 

to be the strongest contributor, recording S$104.0 million 

or 58.4% of total Group revenue in FY2013. These gains 

were partially offset by a 68.4% decline in revenue from the 

Distribution division, from S$6.7 million in FY2012 to S$2.1 

million in FY2013.

Geographically, Singapore remained the major revenue 

contributor, with S$128.6 million in FY2013 making up 72.2% 

of the total revenue and representing a 15.6% increase from 

S$111.2 million in FY2012.  Revenue from Malaysia marginally 

declined to S$43.0 million in FY2013 from S$43.9 million in 

the previous year, and accounted for 24.2% of total revenues 

during the year.  

Since the opening of the Group’s first retail showroom in 

Dongguan, Guangzhou in FY2012, revenues from China have 

increased four-fold from S$0.5 million in FY2012 to S$2.1 

million in FY2013.  Revenue from the United Arab Emirates 

declined from S$2.3 million to S$1.4 million; while revenue 

from other regions marginally increased, from S$2.7 million 

to S$2.9 million.

Cost of sales increased 14.5% from S$128.9 million in 

FY2012 to S$147.6 million in FY2013, mainly due to the 

continued tightening of foreign labour in Singapore and 

higher labour costs in the Group’s key markets.  As a result, 

the Group’s gross margin declined from 19.8% for FY2012 to 

17.1% for FY2013.

Other income decreased by 97.7% from S$2.4 million in 

FY2012 to S$55,000 in FY2013. In FY2012, other income 

included a S$2.3 million gain on re-measurement of equity 

interest to fair value in relation to the acquisition of DDS Asia 

Holdings Pte Ltd.

Marketing and distribution expenses increased slightly by 

1.8% to S$6.2 million in FY2013, mainly due to an increase 

in staff cost and depreciation expenses incurred for the China 

showrooms, partially offset by a decline in exhibition related 

expenses.

General and administrative expenses decreased from S$13.3 

million in FY2012 to S$9.1 million in FY2013, primarily due to 

a foreign exchange gain in FY2013 and an amortisation of 

order backlog of S$3.1 million in FY2012.

As a result, Design Studio achieved an improved profit before 

tax of S$15.3 million for FY2013, as compared with S$14.8 

million for FY2012.  After taking into account tax expenses, net 

profit after tax was S$11.9 million for FY2013, as compared 

with S$11.3 million in the previous year.
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We took prudent steps to strengthen our balance sheet and 

ended the year in a net cash position of S$44.9 million, up 

from S$29.1 million in FY2012.  This healthy net cash position 

is a reflection of the strong cash flow generation capacity of 

our business.  

Operational Review

With an established brand name and solid track record of 

delivering products and projects that are synonymous with 

quality and innovation, Design Studio continues to be a 

partner of choice with reputable, brand-name developers in 

Singapore and overseas. Our strong positioning has allowed 

us to secure new projects and strengthen our order book 

to S$243.9 million as of 31 December 2013, despite the 

challenging business conditions. 

Residential

Since the award of our first residential project in 1996, our 

Residential division has continued to grow from strength to 

strength, completing numerous notable high-end residential 

projects by renowned developers. This attests to the Group’s 

core strength of delivering quality products and innovative 

solutions on a timely basis to leading developers in Singapore 

and abroad. During the year, we secured a pipeline of high-

caliber projects which include:

St. Thomas Walk, a 219-unit high-end freehold 

development by Bukit Sembawang Estates Limited; 

TP 180, a 181-unit residential tower within Tanjong 

Pagar Centre developed by GuocoLand Limited;

Bedok Residences, a 582-unit condominium in the heart 

of Bedok Town developed by CapitaLand Singapore 

Limited; 

Sea Esta, a 376-unit condominium located along Pasir 

Ris beach developed by Hoi Hup Sunway Pasir Ris Pte 

Ltd; 

The Palette, a 892-unit condominium joint-development 

by City Developments Ltd, Hong Realty (Private) Limited 

and Hong Leong Holdings Ltd;

J Gateway,  a 738-unit leasehold condominium located 

in the vibrant Jurong East district developed by MCL 

Land;  

Woodhaven, a 337-unit leasehold condominium 

developed by Far East Organization; and 

Waterbay EC, a 383-unit leasehold executive 

condominium developed by Qingjian Realty (South 

Pacific) Pte Ltd.

The Palette

Image is courtesy of City Developments Limited 

Bedok Residences

Image is courtesy of CapitaLand Singapore Limited
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South Beach Mixed Development

Image is courtesy of South Beach Consortium Pte Ltd

CEO’s Business Review

Hospitality and Commercial

The Group’s Hospitality and Commercial division, DDS Group, 

is a leader in the interior fitting-out business, affording clients 

a holistic suite of ID fit-out solutions for the hospitality and 

commercial sectors.  The Group’s commitment to perfection 

is unsurpassed and is embodied in every project that we 

undertake, from the simplest to the most complex project, 

down to the minute detail.  

Our Hospitality and Commercial portfolio features some of 

Singapore’s renowned hotels and resorts as well as world-

class projects in leisure destinations such as Malaysia and 

Thailand.  

During the year, DDS Malaysia secured the following projects:

Interior fit-out works to Executive Offices at Menara 

CIMB;

Interior fit-out works to 168 apartment units at Somerset 

Puteri Harbour JB; 

ID fit-out works to 496 apartment units at Platinum 

Suites The Face at KLCC; and 

Interior fit-out works to 247 serviced apartment units for 

redevelopment of Plaza Atrium, a corporate office tower 

located in Kuala Lumpur.

While in Singapore, DDS Singapore secured the following 

projects in 2013:

Robinsons Department Store’s new 150,000 sq ft 

flagship store, which is designed to offer shoppers 

a differentiated retail experience over six levels at The 

Heeren;

Singapore’s first liberal arts college, Yale-NUS College. 

The Group has been contracted to provide interior fit-out 

works to residential colleges within the future campus, 

which is designed by two world class architects, 

Singapore’s Forum Architects and Pelli Clarke Pelli in the 

U.S.;

Fit-out of hotel guestrooms, suites, corridors and lift 

lobbies at the South Tower of South Beach Hotel, part of 

South Beach, a Mixed Development located on Beach 

Road in the downtown core of Singapore. A joint-venture 

project between CDL Developments Limited and IOI 

Group, South Beach is designed by British architectural 

firm, Foster + Partners, and Aedas Architects; and

Fit-out of hotel guestrooms, corridors and lift lobbies at 

Park Hotel@Alexandra, a hotel-cum-mall development 

by CEL Development.   

Platinum Suite The Face

Image is courtesy of Platinum Victory Property Sdn Bhd
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Distribution

Distribution continues to be an area of focus for the 

Group.  We continue to see long-term value in our strategic 

partnership with SieMatic, one of the world’s leading luxury 

kitchen brands. Sharing similar values and aspirations with 

Design Studio, SieMatic produces attractive and innovative 

kitchen products that are exemplary in technology, design 

and quality. Our partnership with such a reputable German 

brand that shares our philosophy of sustainability, quality and 

excellence can only enhance our distribution portfolio. 

Laying the Foundation in China

China, the world’s most populous country with more than 1.3 

billion nationals, continues to be a strategic market. Despite 

China’s slower pace of growth over the past two years, the 

nation continues to be one of the fastest growing economies 

in the world with a forecast growth rate of approximately 

7.7% in FY2013.  

Menara CIMB

Image is courtesy of CIMB Bank Berhad

Underpinned by a strong urbanisation trend and a growing 

middle class with high disposable income, the longer-term 

outlook for the real estate sector in China looks positive. With 

an established presence in the country, Design Studio seeks 

to leverage on the positives of the urbanisation rate which hit 

54% in FY2013 and is expected to top 60% by FY2018.

The Group’s production facility in Huizhou, Guangdong, 

turned fully operational in FY2012 and continues to produce 

quality products for the Group’s projects. The Group will 

continue to leverage on the manufacturing capability of the 

production facility to achieve better costs efficiency. The 

Group will continue to step-up its marketing efforts and to 

tap into the diverse opportunities in the growing markets of 

China over the longer-term.

Going Forward

Looking into 2014, we expect the Group’s operating 

environment to remain challenging and competitive with the 

property cooling measures implemented by the Singapore 

and Malaysia government for the Singapore and Malaysia 

property market respectively; the tightening of supply of 

foreign labour in Singapore; the uncertainty surrounding rising 

interest rates and a tighter credit environment.

For the coming year, we will endeavour to grow our businesses 

and continue to tighten our operating costs to improve 

productivity and efficiency of the manufacturing processes.  

We are confident that the strategies that we have employed 

and the foundation laid over the past year, will allow us to 

overcome these challenges and create further value for our 

shareholders.  

Acknowledgements

In closing, I would like to thank our management team and 

employees for their hard work, dedication and unwavering 

contributions, which have enabled us to cement our 

leadership position in the markets in which we operate. I look 

forward to your continued support as we take Design Studio 

to greater heights.

Bernard Lim Leng Foo
Chief Executive Officer
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2013 17,810 2012

16,060 10.9%

2013 44.1%

7,200 2013

40.4% 31.1%

2013

10 400
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2013 12 31 24 390

1996

St. Thomas Walk Bukit Sembawang Estates 

Ltd 219

TP180 GuocoLand Limited

181

Bedok Residences CapitaLand 

Singapore Limited 582

Sea Esta

Hoi Hup Sunway Pasir Ris Pte Ltd  

376

892

J Gateway MCL Land 

738

Woodhaven FarEast 

Organization 337

Waterbay EC

383

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-

Sea Esta

Image is courtesy of Hoi Hup Sunway Pasir Ris Pte Ltd

The Palet te C i t y 

Far East

Developments Ltd
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Waterbay EC

Image is courtesy of Qingjian Realty (South Pacific) Pte Ltd

Plaza Atrium

Image is courtesy of Pinehigh Development Sdn Bhd

DDS

2013 DDS

Menara CIMB

Somerset Puteri Harbour JB, 168

Platinum Suites The Face at KLCC 496

Plaza Atrium 247

-
-

-

-
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Robinsons Department Store at Orchard

Images are courtesy of Robinson & Co. (Singapore) Pte Ltd

2013 DDS

Robinsons Department Store at Orchard Robinson 

The Heeren

15

Forum Architects Pelli Clarke Pelli

South Beach Hotel 

IOI IOI Corporation

Foster + Partners  

Aedas

 Park Hotel @ Alexandra  

CEL

13

2013 7.7%

2013

54% 2018 60%

2012

2014

2014

-

-

-

-



Challenges drive us further in our pursuit of excellence. As a 

recognized brand in the field, we refuse to rest on laurels by building 

upon years of experience for the continuous improvement of the 

Company. Our intensified approach not only gives us the necessary 

strength required to sustain steady revenue despite economic 

uncertainties, but gives us assurance that we are adaptable in any 

economic scenario. This is the cornerstone of our business, and this 

will bring us further into the industry. 

A Foundation 
of Strength 
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Financial Highlights / 
FOR THE YEAR 

Gross profit 
(in S$’000) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

1st quarter  4,799  6,668  (1,869)  (28.0)

2nd quarter  6,766  7,617  (851)  (11.2)

3rd quarter  6,736  8,395  (1,659)  (19.8)

4th quarter  12,238  9,068  3,170  35.0 

Total 30,539 31,748  (1,209)  (3.8)

Profit from operations 

(in S$’000) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

1st quarter  1,043  4,569  (3,526)  (77.2)

2nd quarter  3,394  3,335  59  1.8 

3rd quarter  3,158  3,483  (325)  (9.3)

4th quarter  7,731  3,380  4,351  128.7 

Total  15,326  14,767  559  3.8 

Net profit attributable to shareholders 

(in S$’000) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

1st quarter  716  4,192  (3,476)  (82.9)

2nd quarter  2,643  2,623  20  0.8 

3rd quarter  2,330  2,466  (136)  (5.5)

4th quarter  6,256  2,382  3,874  162.6 

Total  11,945  11,663  282  2.4 

Dividend 

(in S$'000) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

Interim dividend  1,301  1,952  (651)  (33.4)

Proposed/Final dividend  2,603  1,952  651  33.4 

Proposed/Special dividend  13,013  6,507  6,506  100.0 

Total  16,917  10,411  6,506  62.5 

Revenue 

(in S$'000)  2013 2012 Variance  % Change

1st quarter  28,515  24,716  3,799  15.4 

2nd quarter  44,438  41,317  3,121  7.6 

3rd quarter  41,728  40,788  940  2.3 

4th quarter  63,416  53,810  9,606  17.9 

Total  178,097  160,631  17,466  10.9 
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AT YEAR END 

Equity 
(in S$'000) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

Share capital 32,732 32,732  -    -   

Reserves 73,145 70,033  3,112  4.4 

Non-controlling interest (400)  (314)  (86)  27.4 

Total equity 105,477 102,451  3,026  3.0 

Per share 

(in S$cents) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

Earnings  4.59  4.50  0.09  2.0 

Net asset value  40.53  39.36  1.17  3.0 

Interim dividend  0.50  0.75  (0.25)  (33.3)

Proposed/Final dividend  1.00  0.75  0.25  33.3 

Proposed/Special dividend  5.00  2.50  2.50  100.0 

Financial ratios

(%) 2013 2012 Variance % Change

Return on assets 7.60 8.04  (0.44)  (5.5)

Return on equity 11.32 11.38  (0.06)  (0.5)

 



18 Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

Financial Highlights / 

Group revenue by business segments

(in S$’000) 

Group revenue by geography

(in S$’000) 

Singapore United Arab Emirates OthersMalaysia

Residential property projects Hospitality and commercial projects Distribution projects

2%

4% 1%

69%

31%

41%

27%

65%

58%

2%

2012 

2012 

3%

72%

24%

1%

2013 

2013 

160,631

160,631

178,097

178,097
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(in S$’000) 

Residential property projects - Local

Residential property projects - Export

Hospitality and commercial projects - Export 

Distribution projects - Local 

Hospitality and commercial projects - Local 

Residential property projects Hospitality and commercial projects Distribution projects

Order book on hand by business segments 

Order book on hand by business segment and geography 

(in S$’000) 

2%

2% 1%

62%

67% 56%

10%

31% 43%

22%

4%

2%

As at 31 December 2012 

2012 12 31

 

As at 31 December 2012 

2012 12 31

As at 31 December 2013 

2013 12 31

As at 31 December 2013 

2013 12 31

1%

55%

13%

29%

202,114

202,114

243,880

243,880
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Financial Summary / 
FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

Income statement

(in S$’000) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue  113,935  107,970  93,222  160,631  178,097 

Gross profit  35,611  31,928  27,176  31,748  30,539 

Profit from operations  25,951  21,771  16,159  14,767  15,326 

Profit before tax  29,961  23,088  18,746  14,781  15,340 

Net profit  25,377  19,617  15,257  11,663  11,945 

Cash flow

(in S$’000) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Operating activities  18,603  8,112  16,642  11,133  26,741 

Investing activities  (4,385)  (3,258)  (16,325)  (7,187)  (1,199)

Financing activities  (9,578)  (8,591)  (5,189)  (4,178)  (7,606)

Net movement  4,640  (3,737)  (4,872)  (232)  17,936 

Financial Ratios

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Earnings per share (S$cents)  9.95  7.69  5.98  4.50  4.59 

Net asset value per share (S$cents)   27.94  33.16  37.13  39.36  40.53 

Dividend per share (S$cents)   2.50  2.50  2.50  4.00  6.50 

Return on equity (%)  35.60  23.18  16.10  11.38  11.32 

Return on assets (%)  25.05  16.85  12.80  8.04  7.60 

Current ratio  2.51  2.80  3.00  2.53  2.35 

Balance sheet

(in S$’000) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Property, plant & equipment  9,845  11,616  25,886  26,793  24,697 

Inventories  6,890  9,126  11,610  15,031  14,774 

Construction work-in-progress  6,381  8,008  6,776  7,103  6,394 

Trade receivables  33,002  40,605  28,220  53,012  52,823 

Cash and fixed deposits  36,359  34,701  28,611  29,095  44,877 

Trade payables  5,120  9,523  6,175  13,166  16,084 

Accrued operating expenses  19,925  15,558  11,731  22,026  28,575 

Deposits received  592  1,587  2,463  2,615  2,873 

Shareholders’ equity  71,291  84,626  94,758  102,451  105,477 

Total assets  101,299  116,395  119,163  145,030  157,179 

Total liabilities  30,008  31,769  24,405  42,579  51,702 
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Earnings per share (in S$cents) Net asset value per share (in S$cents)

Return on assets (%)
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Financial Summary / 
Group revenue by business segments (in S$’000) 

Profit from operations (in S$’000) Shareholders’ equity (in S$’000) 
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Design Studio (China) Pte. Ltd.

(Singapore)

Design Studio (Huizhou) Home 

Furnishing  Co., Ltd. 

(People’s Republic of China)

DDS Contracts & Interior 

Solutions Sdn Bhd 

(Malaysia)

DDS

DDS Contracts & Interior 

Solutions (Vietnam) Co., Ltd 

(Vietnam)

DDS

DDS Contracts & Interior 

Solutions Pte Ltd 

(Singapore) 

DDS 

DDS Contracts & Interior 

Solutions (Thailand) Co., Ltd 

(Thailand)

DDS 

DDS Asia Holdings Pte Ltd

(Singapore)

DDS

Design Studio Furniture 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd

(People’s Republic of China)

DS Interior Contracts & 

Renovation (Shanghai)  Co., Ltd 

(People’s Republic of China)

D S Interior Decoration 

(Middle East) LLC 

(United Arab Emirates)

Corporate Structure / 

DESIGN STUDIO GROUP LTD

100% 100%

100% 100%

Design Studio Asia Pte Ltd

(Singapore)

DS Furniture Manufacturer Sdn. 

Bhd. (Malaysia)

DS Project Management Sdn.

Bhd. (Malaysia)

Design Studio Singapore Pte. 

Ltd.  (Singapore)

100% 100%

100%

100%

100% 69%

100%

100%

100%

49%

(Singapore) 





We carry an eclectic portfolio of superior and stylish interiors that 

satisfy clients with specialised needs. With our acute business 

aptitude and refined taste for exquisite quality, we have established 

a kind of co-operation that has enabled us to be ahead in the 

competition. The patronage of our clientele is a very crucial part 

of our business, that is why we continually focus our efforts in 

delivering modern elegance and craftsmanship to improve our 

potential for growth.

A Synergy 
of Expertise
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Board of Directors /

Tan Siok Chin 

(Non-Executive Chairman)

Tan Siok Chin was appointed as an 

Independent Director of our Company 

on 1 January 2006 and appointed as the 

Non-Executive Chairman of the Board 

on 31 May 2012. Ms Tan practices as an 

advocate and solicitor in Singapore. She 

is a Director of ACIES Law Corporation, a 

firm of advocates and solicitors heading 

its corporate practice group. 

Ms Tan has over two decades of 

experience in legal practice. Her main 

areas of practice are corporate finance, 

mergers and acquisitions, capital markets 

and commercial matters. 

Ms Tan is also an independent director 

of several other public companies listed 

on the SGX-ST. Ms Tan graduated from 

the National University of Singapore with 

a Bachelor of Law (Honours) degree.

Kelly Ng Chai Choey 

(Executive Director)

Kelly Ng Chai Choey was appointed as 

Executive Director on 15 September 

2008. She is responsible for the Group’s 

financial and corporate functions, 

including treasury, tax, risk management, 

corporate communications and investor 

relations. In addition, she is assisting the 

Chief Executive Officer in overseeing the 

Group’s business operation. She has 

more than 22 years working experience 

in tax, finance and accounting field with 

big four accounting firm and various 

companies in construction, pulp & paper 

and shipping industries. She is a fellow 

member of the Institute of Singapore 

Chartered Accountants and Association 

of Chartered Certified Accountants. 

She is also a member of the Singapore 

Institute of Directors.

Bernard Lim Leng Foo 

(Chief Executive Officer)

Bernard Lim has been Chief Executive 

Officer of our Company since 5 March 

1994. He bears overall responsibility 

for the Group’s business development, 

research and product developments and 

oversees the Group’s business operation. 

He has over 32 years of experience 

in the furniture industry and has been 

instrumental in the establishment and 

development of the Group’s business.
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Ong Tiew Siam 

(Independent Director) 

Ong Tiew Siam was appointed as our 

Independent Director on 1 March 2007.  

He has more than 34 years of experience 

in finance and administrations. He 

graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce 

(Accountancy) (Honours) degree in 1975 

from the Nanyang University, Singapore 

and is a fellow member of the Institute of 

Singapore Chartered Accountants. He is 

also a member of the Singapore Institute of 

Directors. Mr Ong also sits on the board of 

several listed companies. 

Muhammad Umar Saleem 

(Non-Executive Director)  

Muhammad Umar Saleem was appointed 

as Non-Executive Director on 9 November 

2010. Mr Saleem is Depa’s Managing 

Director of Finance & IT. Mr Saleem has 

over 23 years of experience in Corporate 

Finance, Operations Management, 

Business Consulting and Restructuring 

across a broad spectrum of industries. 

Prior to joining Depa, Mr Saleem was a 

Senior Director at Alvarez & Marsal and 

was also the General Manager of the firm’s 

Saudi practice. Prior to that, he was a 

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer at Tech Access, one of the leading 

technology distributors in the MENA 

region. Mr Saleem has also held various 

leadership roles in the consulting practices 

of IBM Canada, Oracle Middle East and 

PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr Saleem also 

worked as Financial Controller and Senior 

Investment Analyst at Majid Al-Futtaim 

Group in UAE where he was instrumental 

in streamlining the Finance operations 

of multiple subsidiaries and conducted 

investment appraisals and due diligence 

on a number of projects. Mr Saleem is a 

fellow member of The Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England & Wales (ICAEW) 

and is also a Certified Information Systems 

Auditor (CISA).



Ultimately, what we have achieved would not be possible 

without our passionate and industrious workforce. 

Excellence and a professional work ethic fuel us in our quest 

to be a recognized brand and to become a key player in 

the field. Our collective skills and talents have enabled us 

to distinguish ourselves in the field, emphasising our innate 

strength that transcends boundaries and challenges. We at 

Design Studio do not do different things, but we do things 

differently. And this puts us on top of our game.

At the Apex 
of Success
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Corporate Information /
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Tan Siok Chin  (Non-Executive Chairman   

   & Independent Director)  
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Muhammad Umar Saleem (Non-Executive Director)  

Ong Tiew Siam  (Independent Director)  

Audit Committee
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Remuneration Committee
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The Board of Directors and Management of Design Studio Group Ltd (previously known as “Design Studio Furniture 

Manufacturer Ltd”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are committed to maintaining a high 

standard of corporate governance within the Group, in conformity with the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) 

issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). Good corporate governance establishes and 

maintains a legal and ethical environment in the Group to preserve the interest of all shareholders.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board meets regularly to:

 Oversee the business affairs of the Group;

 Approve financial objectives and business strategies;

 Monitor the standard of performances and adequacy of internal controls and risk management, both directly and 

through specialised committees set up by the Board;

 Identify the key stakeholder groups and recognise their perceptions which affect the Company’s reputation;

 Set the Company’s values and standards (including ethical standards) and ensure shareholders’ and stakeholders’ 

obligations are understood and met; and

 Consider sustainability issues, for example environmental and social factors as part of its strategic formulation.

In order to ensure that our Group’s operations are not disrupted, Board and committee meetings for the ensuing 

financial year are carefully scheduled prior to the start of each financial year. Ad-hoc meetings are also convened when 

circumstances require.

The Board is supported by the Audit Committee (“AC”), the Nominating Committee (“NC”) and the Remuneration 

Committee (“RC”). These committees were formed at the time of our listing on the SGX-ST and are chaired by Independent 

Directors.

The number of Board meetings held in the financial year 2013 by the Board and meetings of specialised committees 

established by the Board including the attendance of the members are set out below:

Directors

Board

Meetings

Audit 

Committee Meetings

Nominating 

Committee Meetings

Remuneration 

Committee Meetings

No.       

Held

No.      

Attended

No.       

Held

No.      

Attended

No.       

Held

No.      

Attended

No.       

Held

No.      

Attended

Tan Siok Chin 4 4 4 4 1 1 2 2

Bernard Lim Leng Foo 4 4 N.A. N.A. 1 1 N.A. N.A.

Elin Wong Hong Keow* 1 1 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Kelly Ng Chai Choey 4 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Mohannad Izzat Sweid** 3 2 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 2 1

Hadi Solh* 1 - N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Muhammad Umar Saleem 4 4 4 4 N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A.

Seah Hou Kee* 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2

Ong Tiew Siam 4 4 4 4 1 1 2 2

* Ms Elin Wong, Mr Seah Hou Kee and Mr Hadi Solh resigned from the Board with effect from 31 March 2013.

**  Mr Mohannad Izzat Sweid resigned from the Board with effect from 10 October 2013 as he has resigned as the CEO of Depa 

Limited, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

N.A. Not applicable
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The Company has and will organise orientation programs for new Directors to familiarise the new Directors with the Group’s 

operations and business issues and the relevant regulations and governance requirements. The Company will provide 

training for the first-time directors in areas such as accounting, legal and industry-specific knowledge as appropriate. New 

Directors will be provided with a letter of appointment setting out their duties, obligations and terms of appointment. The 

Company will, if necessary, organise regular training for, or circulate memoranda to Directors to enable them to keep pace 

with relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks from time to time, where such changes have a material 

bearing on the Group.

The Company Secretary will attend all Board and committee meetings. She is responsible for ensuring that procedures 

are followed and that the Company has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act and all other rules and 

regulations that are applicable to the Company. The Directors have independent access to the Company Secretary at all 

times.

Management provides the Board members with quarterly reports to keep them abreast with the Group’s business 

development and performance. In addition, the Board members have separate and independent access to the executive 

officers, thus enabling them to make enquiries or seek clarifications on the Group’s affairs.

The Board (whether individually or as a group) has, in the furtherance of its duties, access to independent professional 

advice if necessary, at the Company’s expenses.

The Board supervises the management and corporate affairs of the Group. Matters requiring the Board’s decision and 

approval include:

 Annual budgets and business performance;

 Major funding proposals, including investments and divestments;

 Interested person transactions;

 Dividend payments;

 Appointment of directors and key management staff; and

 Internal controls and risk management strategies and execution.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance 

 

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following members:

Tan Siok Chin (Non-Executive Chairman & Independent Director)

Bernard Lim Leng Foo (Chief Executive Offi cer)

Kelly Ng Chai Choey (Executive Director) 

Muhammad Umar Saleem (Non-Executive Director)

Ong Tiew Siam (Independent Director) 

The Board, through its NC, examines, on an on-going basis, the size and the composition of the Board in order to evaluate 

the Board’s effectiveness in carrying out its duties. The NC is of the view that the current Board size is appropriate and 

effective in carrying out its duties, taking into account the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. The current Board 

comprises persons, who as a group, provides core competencies necessary to meet the Group’s objectives.

To assist in discharging its duties, the Board has delegated certain functions to the AC, NC and RC, which operate under 

clearly defined terms of reference.

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that with the Independent Directors making up at least one-third of the number 

of directors and that the Board have an independent element that sufficiently enables the Board to exercise objective 

judgement on corporate affairs independently from the Management. The NC is of the view that no individual or small group 

of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process.
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Principle 3: Non-Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

 

The Company adopts a dual leadership structure. Ms Tan Siok Chin is the Non-Executive Chairman and Independent 

Director and Mr Bernard Lim Leng Foo is the Chief Executive Officer. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the 

Non-Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, which provides a balance of power and authority.

The Non-Executive Chairman approves the agenda for Board meeting and ensures the timeliness and quality of information 

flow between the Board and the Management.

The role of the Non-Executive Chairman is to:

 Lead the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role;

 Set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic 

issues;

 Promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board;

 Ensure that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;

 Ensure effective communication with shareholders;

 Encourage constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;

 Facilitate the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors in particular; and

 Promote high standards of corporate governance.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group and implementations of the Board’s 

decisions.

The balance of power and authority is further enhanced by the three committees, namely AC, NC and RC which are all 

chaired by Independent Directors.

Principle 4: Board Membership

We believe that Board renewal should be an on-going process in order to ensure good corporate governance. In 

accordance with the Code, all Directors are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular 

intervals. The following Directors will be retiring under the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and are 

eligible for re-election at the 2014 Annual General Meeting:

- Rotation under the Article 102 of the Articles of Association    

 i) Bernard Lim Leng Foo

 ii) Tan Siok Chin
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Principle 5: Board Performance

The NC comprises the following members:

Ong Tiew Siam (Chairman) 
Tan Siok Chin (Member) 
Bernard Lim Leng Foo (Member) 

The NC is authorised by the Board to:

 Develop and maintain a formal and transparent process and make recommendations to the Board on all Board 
appointments and re-appointments, composition of the Board and its Board committee;

 Develop and maintain a formal and transparent process for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Board 
committee and Directors;

 Review Board succession plans for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer; and

 Review training and professional development programs for the Board.

The NC takes the lead in identifying, evaluating and selecting suitable candidates for new directorships. The NC uses 
its best efforts to ensure that the Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and 
knowledge and that each Independent Director brings to the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable the 
making of balanced and well-considered decisions.

The NC will review and evaluate the performance of the Board as a whole, taking into consideration, attendance records 
at respective Board and committee meetings as well as the contribution of each individual Director to the Board’s 
effectiveness. 

In evaluating the Board performance, the NC implements a self-assessment process that requires each Director to submit 
the assessment of the performance of the Board as a whole during the year under review. This self-assessment process 
takes into account, inter alia, the Board composition, maintenance of independence, Board information, Board process, 
Board accountability, communication with top management and standard of conduct. In addition, members of the Board 
are required to complete peer assessment checklists to identify their strengths, weaknesses and contributions to the 
effectiveness of the Board.        

The NC also reviews the independence of the Non-Executive Directors annually, in accordance with the guidelines on 
independence set out in the Code and the Board structure, size and composition and makes recommendation to the Board 
if any adjustment is necessary.

The NC has reviewed the independence of the Board members and is of the opinion that Ms Tan Siok Chin and Mr Ong 
Tiew Siam are independent. 

Despite some of the Directors having other Board representations, the NC is satisfi ed that these Directors are able to and 
have adequately carried out their duties as Directors of the Company. The NC has determined the maximum number of 
listed company board representations which any director may hold to be fi ve (5).    

Principle 6: Access to Information

All Board members have separate and unrestricted access to the Company’s Management and the Company Secretary in 
carrying out their duties.

To enable the Board to fulfi l its responsibilities, the Management is required to provide quarterly reports to the Board on the 
Group’s activities. Under the direction of the Non-Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer, the Company Secretary 
ensures good information fl ows within the Board and its committees and between Management, Non-Executive Directors 
and Independent Directors. The Company Secretary also ensures that Board procedures are followed and applicable 
rules and regulations are complied with. An agenda for Board meetings together with the relevant papers are prepared 
in consultation with the Non-Executive Chairman are usually circulated before the holding of each Board and committee 
meeting. This allows control over the quality, quantity and timeliness of the fl ow of information between Management 
and the Board. The Company Secretary also assists to facilitate orientation and professional development as and when 

required.
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To keep pace with regulatory changes that have an important bearing and effect on our Company and directors, the Board 

members will be required to attend briefi ng sessions conducted during Board meetings or at specially convened sessions 

conducted by professionals. 

Remuneration Matters

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

The RC comprises the following members:

Tan Siok Chin (Chairman)

Ong Tiew Siam (Member) 

Muhammad Umar Saleem (Member)

The RC has three members comprising entirely of Non-Executive Directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman 

are independent. The RC is authorised by the Board to:

 Review and recommend to the Board a general framework of remuneration for the Board and key management 

personnel. The review covers all aspects of remuneration including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, 

allowance, bonus, annual incentive bonus and benefits in-kind;

 Review and recommend to the Board the specifi c remuneration packages for each Director as well as for the key 

management personnel, covering all aspect of remuneration matters, as well as the Company’s obligations arising in 

the event of termination of the executive directors and key management personnel’s contracts of service; and

 Maintain an effective working relationship with the Board and Management while refraining from interfering in any 

business decisions.

In reviewing the remuneration packages, the RC takes into account the current market circumstances and the need to 

attract and retain Directors of experience and good standing. The RC has full authority to obtain external professional 

advice on matters relating to remuneration should the need arises. In respect of fees for Directors, approval of shareholders 

is required at each annual general meeting of the Company.

Our Executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company, subject to renewal every three (3) years. 

The review of service contracts for Executive Directors come under the purview of the RC and ensures that fair and 

reasonable terms of service is tied in with performance. Executive Directors are paid a fixed salary and a performance 

incentive bonus in respect of each financial year commencing from financial year ended 2012 based on the Company’s 

performance incentive bonus pool as shall be awarded by the Company at its discretion based on the Executive Directors’ 

performance. Executive Directors do not receive directors’ fees and attendance fees.

The RC also implements and administers the Company’s Share Based Incentive Plan which comprises the Employee 

Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) and Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”), (collectively the “Share Plans”) to ensure that 

suitable candidates are retained and recruited. Terms of the ESOS and PSP are summarised as below:

(a) Eligibility

 The selection of an ESOS/PSP Participant will be determined by the Committee at its absolute discretion. There 

shall be no restriction on the eligibility of any ESOS/PSP Participant to participate in any other share option schemes 

or share award schemes implemented or to be implemented by the Company. 
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(b) Maximum Entitlement to Options

 The selection of, and the actual number of Shares to be offered under Options to, ESOS/PSP Participants shall be 

determined at the absolute discretion of the Committee which shall take into account the Group’s performance, the 

length of service and the individual performance of the ESOS/PSP Participant, the contribution of the ESOS/PSP 

Participant to the success and development of the Group and the prevailing market and economic conditions and 

such other general criteria as the Committee may consider appropriate.

(c) Size of the Design Studio ESOS/PSP

 The aggregate number of New Shares over which Options may be granted under the Design Studio ESOS when 

added to the number of Shares issued and/or issuable under the Design Studio PSP or such other share-based 

incentive plans of the Company will be limited to 7.5% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company 

(excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding that date. Such limit will be subject to a further sub-limit of 1.5% 

for every 2-year period on a cumulative basis during which the Design Studio ESOS and the Design Studio PSP are 

in force. Any unutilised per centum of the sub-limits in respect of any such 2-year period shall be available for roll-

over and aggregated with the applicable sub-limit of 1.5% for the subsequent 2-year period for grants of Options 

and Awards.

(d) Duration of the Design Studio ESOS/PSP

 The Design Studio ESOS/PSP will continue in operation, at the absolute discretion of the Committee, for a 

maximum duration of 10 years. The Design Studio ESOS/PSP may be continued for any further period thereafter 

with the approval of the Company in general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then be required.

(e) Administration of the Design Studio ESOS/PSP

 The Design Studio ESOS will be administered by the Committee, appointed by the Board to administer the Design 

Studio ESOS/PSP. 

 In accordance with the SGX-ST Listing Rules, a member of the Committee who is also an ESOS/PSP Participant of 

the Design Studio ESOS/PSP must not be involved in its deliberations in respect of options to be granted to or held 

by him.

(f) Exercise Price

 Under the Design Studio ESOS/PSP, the Company will have the fl exibility to grant Options (i) at the Market Price of a 

Share at the time of grant; and/or (ii) at a discount to the Market Price at the time of grant of not more than 20%. 

(g) Market Price Options

 These options are granted with Exercise Prices set at the Market Price at the time of their grant.

(h) Discount Price Options and Quantum of discount

 Options may be granted with discounts to the Market Price at the time of their grant. Under the SGX-ST Listing 

Rules, the maximum discount that may be given is 20% of the Market Price at the time of the grant of the Option.  

(i) Grant and Acceptance of Options

 Options may be granted under the Design Studio ESOS/PSP at any time during the period while the Design Studio 

ESOS/PSP is in force. 

(j) Validity period of options

 Options granted with the Exercise Price set at or above the Market Price shall only be exercisable, in whole or in 

part (provided that an Option may be exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 Shares or any multiple thereof), by 

an ESOS/PSP Participant after the 1st anniversary of the Date of Offer of that Option and in accordance with the 

Vesting Schedule and the conditions (if any) to be determined by the Committee on the Date of Offer of the relevant 

Options.
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 Options granted with the Exercise Price set at a discount to the Market Price shall only be exercisable, in whole or 

in part (provided that an Option may be exercised in part only in respect of 1,000 Shares or any multiple thereof), 

by an ESOS/PSP Participant after the 2nd anniversary of the Date of Offer of that Option and in accordance with the 

Vesting Schedule and the conditions (if any) to be determined by the Committee on the Date of Offer of the relevant 

Options.

 Provided always that all Options shall be exercised before the 5th anniversary of the relevant Date of Offer of the 

Option, or such earlier date as may be determined by the Committee, failing which all unexercised Options shall 

immediately lapse and become null and void and an ESOS/PSP Participant shall have no claim whatsoever against 

the Company.

(k) Rights of Shares arising

 Shares allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise of Options granted under the Design Studio ESOS/PSP shall 

be subject to the Articles of Association and will rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing issued Shares, 

save for any dividend or other distribution the record date for which precedes the date of exercise of the Option.

(l) Termination of Options

 Special provisions in the Design Studio ESOS/PSP deal with the lapse or earlier exercise of Options in 

circumstances which include the termination of the ESOS Participant’s employment, the bankruptcy of the 

ESOS/PSP Participant, the death of the ESOS/PSP Participant, a take-over of the Company and the winding-up of 

the Company.

No awards have been granted under the ESOS or PSP during the year.

Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors’ fee structure are as follows:

S$

Basic Director fee 45,000

Board Chairmanship Additional 100% of Basic Fee

Audit Committee Chairmanship Additional 50% of Basic Fee  

Audit Committee Member Additional 25% of Basic Fee  

Other Committee Chairmanship Additional 25% of Basic Fee  

Other Committee Membership Additional 50% of fee paid to their respective 

Committee Chairman

The attendance fee payable to Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors are S$4,000 for full day meetings and 

S$2,000 for half-day meetings. The attendance fee is applicable for attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings 

other than the regular Board and Board Committee meetings comprising of four Board meetings, four AC meetings, one 

NC meeting and one RC meeting.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration of Directors and top eight key executives are set out 

below:

 

Remuneration band

Name of Directors

 

Salary

(%)

Performance 

Incentive

Bonus

(%)

Director

Fees

(%)

Other 

Benefi ts  

(%)

 

Total

(%)

>S$750,000 to S$1,000,000          

Chief Executive Offi cer          

Bernard Lim Leng Foo 54% 40%   6% 100%

>S$500,000 to S$750,000          

Executive Director          

Kelly Ng Chai Choey 55% 40%   5% 100%

<S$250,000          

Executive Director          

Elin Wong Hong Keow* 97%   3% 100%

Non-Executive Directors          

Mohannad Izzat Sweid**     100%   100%

Hadi Solh*     100%   100%

Muhammad Umar Saleem     100%   100%

Independent Directors          

Seah Hou Kee*     100%   100%

Tan Siok Chin     100%   100%

Ong Tiew Siam     100%   100%

* Ms Elin Wong, Mr Seah Hou Kee and Mr Hadi Solh resigned from the Board with effect from 31 March 2013.

** Mr Mohannad Izzat Sweid resigned from the Board with effect from 10 October 2013 as he has resigned as the CEO of Depa 

Limited, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

 

Remuneration band

Name of Executive Offi cers

 

Salary

(%)

Performance 

Incentive

Bonus

(%)

Other 

Benefi ts  

(%)

 

Total

(%)

>S$250,000 to S$500,000        

Wong Chee Seng 62% 26% 12% 100%

Jeremy Koh Kah Liam 62% 31% 7% 100%

Chua Wei Ping 39% 32% 29% 100%

<S$250,000        

Chan Pheng Chun 54% 31% 15% 100%

Mak Soon Heng 58% 39% 3% 100%

Jack Chen Voon Loong 46% 27% 27% 100%

Chew Keng Meng 63% 24% 13% 100%

Alvin Gui Kang Hock 61% 29% 10% 100%

Total remuneration paid to the above key executive officers for FY2013 was S$  2,391,000.

 

There is no termination, retirement and post-employment benefi ts granted to Directors, the Chief Executive Offi cer and the 

top eight key management personnel. 

There is no employee of the Group who is an immediate family member of a director or the Chief Executive Offi cer with 

remuneration exceeding S$50,000 during the year. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board accepts that it is accountable to the shareholders and adopts best practices to maintain shareholders’ 

confidence and trust. Quarterly results are released via SGXNET within the respective periods stipulated in the SGX-ST 

Listing Manual after review by the Board. In presenting the quarterly announcements and yearly financial statements, the 

Board strives to provide the shareholders with detailed analysis and a balanced and understandable assessment of the 

Company’s performance, position and prospects.

The Management provides the Board with a continual flow of relevant information on a timely basis in order that it may 

effectively discharge its duties. On a quarterly basis, Board members are provided with up-to-date financial reports and 

other information on the Group’s performance for effective monitoring and decision making.

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Company maintains a sound risk management internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and 

the Company’s assets.

The AC, through the assistance of internal and external auditors, reviews and reports to the Board on the adequacy of the 

Company’s system of internal controls and risk management, including financial, operational, compliance and information 

technology controls and to risk management policies and systems established by the Management. In assessing the 

effectiveness of internal controls, the AC ensures that the key objectives are met, material assets are safeguarded and 

reliable financial information is prepared in compliance with applicable internal policies, laws and regulations.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no system 

or internal control provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material financial misstatement or losses, poor 

judgement in decision-making, human errors, fraud or other irregularities.

The Board obtains assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that the financial records have 

been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and finances 

and that the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are in place and effective.

The Board is satisfied that the Company’s framework on internal controls is adequate to provide the reasonable assurance 

on the effectiveness of the internal control system put in place by the Management. The Board, with the concurrence of the 

AC, is of the opinion that the Company’s system of internal controls is adequate in addressing financial, operational and 

compliance risk within the Group. 

Principle 12: Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) are as the following:

Ong Tiew Siam  (Chairman)

Muhammad Umar Saleem (Member)

Tan Siok Chin (Member) 

The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, the SGX- 

ST’s Listing Manual and the Code including the following:

 Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company, and reviews the internal auditors’ 

evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the assistance given by the 

Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

 Assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control (including financial, operational, compliance, 

information technology controls and risk management) systems established by management to identify, assess, 

manage, and disclose financial and non-financial risks including those relating to compliances with existing 

legislation and regulation;
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 Meet with the external auditors, other committees, and Management in separate executive sessions to discuss any 

matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

 Review the quarterly announcements and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual financial 

statements of the Company before their submission to the Board;

 Review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related compliance 

policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

 Review the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

 Review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

 Recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors to be nominated, 

approve the compensation and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and review the scope and results of 

the audit;

 Report actions and minutes of the AC to the Board with such recommendations as the AC considers appropriate; 

and

 Review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that the nature 

and extent of such services did not affect the independence of the external auditors. Details of the aggregate amount of 

fees paid to the external auditors for the financial year, and a breakdown of the fees paid in total for audit and non-audit 

services respectively, can be found in the Notes to Financial Statements. The AC has also conducted a review of interested 

person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year. In performing its function, the AC has also met with the external auditors, 

without the presence of Management at least once a year and reviewed the overall scope of the external audit and the 

assistance given by Management to the auditors.

The AC had met with Deloitte & Touche LLP (“D&T”) to review and consider various factors, including the adequacy of the 

resources of D&T, their experience and audit engagements, the number and experience of the supervisory and professional 

staff who will be assigned to the audit of the Group’s consolidated accounts and D&T’s proposed audit arrangements for 

the Company. The AC is of the opinion that D&T would be able to meet the audit requirements of the Company and the 

Group and that accordingly, in respect of the proposed re-appointment of D&T as auditors, the Company would be able to 

comply with Rule 712 of the Listing Manual.

The AC had reviewed the appointment of a different audit firm for three overseas subsidiaries and is satisfied that the 

appointment would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit, and that the Company would be able to 

comply with Rule 716 of the Listing Manual.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistle blowing policy to provide well-defined and accessible channels in the Group through 

which employees may raise concerns about the possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters 

directly to the Chairman of the AC.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to an international accounting firm, which is not the external auditor of 

the Group. The AC reviewed and approved the internal audit plan put up by the internal auditors. The internal auditors 

report to the Chairman of the AC on a regular basis to ensure the adequacy of the internal audit function. The AC also 

reviews annually the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls in the light of key business and financial risks 

affecting the operations to satisfy itself that there are adequate internal controls to meet the needs of the Group in its 

current business environment.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Principle 14: Shareholder Rights

Principle 15: Communications with Shareholders

Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

The Company is in regular and effective communication with shareholders in order to maintain a high standard of 

transparency and to promote better investor communications. The Board strives for timeliness and transparency in its 

disclosures to shareholders and the public.

Information is communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through:

 The Annual Report, containing the full financial statements of the Company and the Group

 Notices of Annual General Meeting/ Extraordinary General Meeting (“AGM/EGM”)

 Press release on major developments of the Company

 SGXNET announcements

 The Company’s website at www.designstudio.com.sg where shareholders can access information on the Company. 

The website provides, inter alia, corporate announcements, press releases, annual reports and profiles of the 

Company.

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM/EGM. This allows shareholders the opportunity to 

communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company and to stay informed of the Company’s strategy and 

goals. The Chairman of the AC, RC and NC and external auditors are normally present at the meeting to address relevant 

questions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted internal codes in relation to dealings in the Company’s securities pursuant to Rule 1207(19) 

of the SGX-ST Listing Manual that is applicable to the Company and all its officers. All Directors and key officers of the 

Group who have access to “price-sensitive” information are required to observe this Rule. Under the Rule, the Company, 

its Directors and officers are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities during the period commencing two weeks 

before the announcement of the Company financial statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year 

and one month before the announcement of the Company’s full year financial statements. The Directors and officers are 

reminded of this requirement via the circulation of an internal memorandum. Each officer is required to submit a declaration 

annually that he/she is in compliance with and has not breached the Rule. The policy also discourages Directors and 

officers from dealing in the Company’s securities on short term considerations.

The Directors are required to notify the Company of any dealings in the Company’s securities (during the open window 

period) within two (2) business days of the transactions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

 The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of Design Studio Group 

Ltd (previously known as “Design Studio Furniture Manufacturer Ltd”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, 

the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 

December 2013.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 Tan Siok Chin (Non-Executive Chairman)

 Bernard Lim Leng Foo (Chief Executive Offi cer)

 Kelly Ng Chai Choey

 Muhammad Umar Saleem

 Ong Tiew Siam

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS

 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year did there subsist any arrangement 

whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares or 

debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the Company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in share capital and 

debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by 

the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

  

Direct interest Deemed interest

1 January 2013 31 December 2013 1 January 2013 31 December 2013

The Company

Ordinary shares

Bernard Lim Leng Foo 7,000,000 4,000,000 – –

 The directors’ interests in the shares and debentures of the Company at 21 January 2014 were the same at 31 

December 2013, except that Mr Bernard Lim Leng Foo sold 2,000,000 shares on 7 January 2014. The sale is part 

of the sales and purchase agreement between Mr Bernard Lim Leng Foo and Depa Interiors LLC under which Mr 

Bernard Lim Leng Foo is to sell 3,000,000 shares on 11 January 2013, 2,000,000 shares on 7 January 2014 and 

the remaining 2,000,000 shares on 7 January 2015.

4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t which is 

required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 

the Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a fi rm of which the director is a member, or with a 

company in which the director has a substantial fi nancial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefi ts 

as disclosed in the fi nancial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their 

capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporation. 
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5 SHARE OPTIONS

 The Company has adopted an employee share option scheme and performance share plan known as the Design 

Studio’s Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) and the Design Studio’s Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) 

respectively, approved by the shareholders in an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 25 January 2013.

 The ESOS and PSP are designed to attract and motivate participants for their contributions towards the success of 

the Group. It provides eligible participants who have contributed to the growth and performance of the Group with 

an opportunity to participate and also motivate these participants to greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards 

of performance and to give recognition to past contributions and services. It also engenders stronger ties and 

dedication to the Group through shared ownership in the Company.

 No options were issued by the Company or its subsidiaries during the fi nancial year.  As at 31  December 2013, 

there were no options on the unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries which are outstanding. During the 

fi nancial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of the exercise 

of an option to take up unissued shares.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the date of this report are as the following:

 Ong Tiew Siam  (Chairman)

 Muhammad Umar Saleem

 Tan Siok Chin

 The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)’s Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance, 

including the following:

 Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company, and review the internal auditors’ 

evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the assistance 

given by the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

 Assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control (including fi nancial, operational, compliance, 

information technology controls and risk management) systems established by management to identify, 

assess, manage, and disclose fi nancial and non-fi nancial risks including those relating to compliances with 

existing legislation and regulation;

 Meet with the external auditors, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to 

discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

 Review the quarterly announcements and annual fi nancial statements and the auditors’ report on the annual 

fi nancial statements of the Company before their submission to the Board;

 Review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the fi nancial statements, related 

compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators; 

 Review the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors; 

 Review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

 Recommend to the Board the external auditors to be nominated, approve the compensation of the external 

auditors, and review the scope and results of the audit; 

 Report actions and minutes of the AC to the Board with such recommendations as the AC considers 

appropriate; and 

 Review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.
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 The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfi ed that 

the nature and extent of such services did not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has also 

conducted a review of interested person transactions. 

 Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Annual Report, Corporate Governance Report.

7 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Bernard Lim Leng Foo

Kelly Ng Chai Choey

6 March 2014
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In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of 

changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 48 to 93 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2013, and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows 

of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year then ended and at the date of this statement, 

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Bernard Lim Leng Foo

Kelly Ng Chai Choey

6 March 2014
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Design Studio Group Ltd (previously known as “Design Studio Furniture 

Manufacturer Ltd”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of 

the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2013, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company 

and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of 

cash fl ows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes as set out on pages 48 to 93.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and 

maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 

against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 

as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain 

accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 

in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 

31 December 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 

Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

6 March 2014



The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2013

48 Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

Group Company

Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 24,697 26,793 4,125 4,896

Investment in subsidiaries 5 – – 42,743 43,063

Intangible assets 6 2,778 2,784 49 55

Deferred tax assets 18 61 10 61 10

Trade and other receivables 9 8,180 7,725 5,699 4,459

Prepayments 201 298     –         –     

Current assets

Inventories 7 14,774 15,031 1,823 1,723

Gross amount due from customers for 

 contract work-in-progress 8 6,394 7,103 2,926 5,938

Trade and other receivables 9 53,147 55,633 32,314 29,140

Prepayments 1,531 558 936 225

Loan to a subsidiary 5 – – 2,000 –

Tax recoverable 539 – – –

Cash and short-term deposits 10 44,877 29,095 11,478 9,680

121,262 107,420 51,477 46,706

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 49,435 39,413 21,867 21,391

Provision for tax 2,170 2,978 1,178 934

51,605 42,391 23,045 22,325

Net current assets 69,657 65,029 28,432 24,381

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 18 97 63 – –

Other payables 11 – 125 – –

Net assets 105,477 102,451 81,109 76,864

Equity attributable to equity holders 

 of the Company

Share capital 12 32,732 32,732 32,732 32,732

Reserves 73,145 70,033 48,377 44,132

105,877 102,765 81,109 76,864

Non-controlling interests (400) (314) – –

Total equity 105,477 102,451 81,109 76,864
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Group

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Revenue 13 178,097 160,631

Cost of sales (147,558) (128,883)

Gross profi t 30,539 31,748

Other income 15 55 2,369

30,594 34,117

Marketing and distribution expenses (6,161) (6,055)

General and administrative expenses (9,107) (13,295)

Profi t from operations 16 15,326 14,767

Finance expenses 17 – (4)

Finance income 17 14 18

Profi t before tax 15,340 14,781

Tax expense 18 (3,481) (3,472)

Profi t net of tax 11,859 11,309

Profi t attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 11,945 11,663

Non-controlling interests (86) (354)

11,859 11,309

Earnings per share ($cents)

- basic 19 4.59 4.50

- diluted 19 4.59 4.50
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Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Profi t net of tax 11,859 11,309

Other comprehensive income:

Item that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss: 

Foreign currency translation 927 (1,027)

Total comprehensive income for the year 12,786 10,282

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 12,872 10,641

Non-controlling interests (86) (359)

12,786 10,282
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Share

capital

Revenue

 reserve 

Other

reserves

Attributable

to equity

holders

of the 

Company

Non-

controlling

  interests   Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Balance at 1 January 2012 30,161 63,307 1,290 94,758 – 94,758

Profi t net of tax – 11,663 – 11,663 (354) 11,309

Other comprehensive income – – (1,022) (1,022) (5) (1,027)

Total comprehensive income for the year – 11,663 (1,022) 10,641 (359) 10,282

Transactions with owners, recognised 

 directly in equity:

 Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 27) – (5,205) – (5,205) – (5,205)

 Non-controlling interest arising from 

  acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 28) – – – – 45 45

   Shares issued for acquisition of a 

  subsidiary (Note 28) 2,571 – – 2,571 – 2,571

Balance at 31 December 2012 32,732 69,765 268 102,765 (314) 102,451

Profi t net of tax – 11,945 – 11,945 (86) 11,859

Other comprehensive income – – 927 927 –  927

Total comprehensive income for the year – 11,945 927 12,872 (86) 12,786

Transactions with owners, recognised 

 directly in equity:

 Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 27) – (9,760) – (9,760) – (9,760)

Balance at 31 December 2013 32,732 71,950 1,195 105,877 (400) 105,477

Share Revenue

capital reserve   Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Balance at 1 January 2012 30,161 42,739 72,900

 Profi t net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for the year – 6,598 6,598

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 27) – (5,205) (5,205)

 Shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 28) 2,571 – 2,571

Balance at 31 December 2012 32,732 44,132 76,864

Profi t net of tax, representing total comprehensive income for the year – 14,005 14,005

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 27) – (9,760) (9,760)

Balance at 31 December 2013 32,732 48,377 81,109
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Group

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities

 Profi t before tax 15,340 14,781

 Adjustments:

 Impairment loss on doubtful receivables 16 440 –

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16 4,575 3,863

 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 16 (12) (64)

 Finance expenses 17 – 4

 Finance income 17 (14) (18)

 Amortisation of club membership 16 6 6

 Amortisation of order backlog 16 – 3,116

 Interest accretion 16 (106) (179)

 Gain on re-measurement of equity interest to fair value 28 – (2,339)

 Currency translation difference (327) (209)

 Operating profi t before working capital changes 19,902 18,961

 (Increase) Decrease in:

 Inventories 257 (3,421)

 Contract work-in-progress 709 3,123

 Trade and other receivables 1,734 (5,266)

 Prepayments (876) 2,577

 Increase (Decrease) in:

 Trade and other payables 9,860 455

 Cash fl ows generated from operations 31,586 16,429

 Finance expenses paid – (4)

 Income taxes paid (4,845) (5,292)

Net cash fl ows from operating activities 26,741 11,133

Cash fl ows from investing activities

 Costs incurred for construction-in-progress (19) (3,498)

 Finance income received 14 18

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 42 125

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,236) (1,685)

 Net cash outfl ow on acquisition of subsidiary 28 – (2,147)

Net cash fl ows used in investing activities (1,199) (7,187)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

 Decrease in cash and short-term deposits pledged 2,154 1,058

 Dividends paid on ordinary shares by the Company 27 (9,760) (5,205)

 Repayment of fi nance lease liabilities – (31)

Net cash fl ows used in fi nancing activities  (7,606)  (4,178)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,936 (232)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 26,849 27,081

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year A 44,785 26,849
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Notes to the consolidated statement of cash fl ows

A Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash fl ows comprise the following at the end 

of the reporting period:

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash at banks and on hand 41,399 29,095

Fixed deposits 3,478 –

Cash and short-term deposits 44,877 29,095

Less: Cash and short-term deposits pledged (92) (2,246)

Cash and cash equivalents 44,785 26,849
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1 GENERAL

 Design Studio Group Ltd (previously known as “Design Studio Furniture Manufacturer Ltd”) (the “Company”) is a 

public limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore and is listed on the SGX-ST. The immediate 

holding company is Depa Interiors LLC and the ultimate holding company is Depa Limited, both incorporated in 

United Arab Emirates.

 The registered offi ce and principal place of business of the Company is located at 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, 

Singapore 728682.

 The principal activities of the Company are manufacture, supply and installation of paneling products such as 

kitchen and vanity cabinets, wardrobes, doors and door frames, and furniture components for local and overseas 

markets; the provision of interior fi tting-out services to hospitality and commercial projects. The Company also acts 

as the distributor for furniture products of reputable overseas brand in Singapore.

 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the business of the Company will be gradually transferred to a 

newly incorporated subsidiary as part of an internal restructuring exercise. The Company will gradually become an 

investment holding company.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are shown in Note 5 to the fi nancial statements.

 The fi nancial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $), the functional currency of the Company and 

all values in the tables are rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) as indicated.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 March 

2014.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and 

statement of changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis 

except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 

Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 

account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing 

the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 

consolidated fi nancial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 

that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 

17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 

value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

 In addition, for fi nancial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 

the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the signifi cance of the inputs to 

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 

can access at the measurement date;

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On 1 January 2013, the Group and Company adopted all the 

new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its 

operations. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s and 

Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years 

except as disclosed below.

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

 The Group has applied the amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 

retrospectively for the fi rst time in the current year. Under the amendments to FRS 1, the Group also grouped items 

of other comprehensive income into two categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a) items that will 

not be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss and (b) items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or 

loss when specifi c conditions are met. Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of 

the amendments to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profi t or loss, other comprehensive income and total 

comprehensive income.

 Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 The Group has applied the amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities for the fi rst time in the current year. The amendments to FRS 107 require entities to disclose information 

about rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for fi nancial instruments 

under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

 The Group and the Company do not have any fi nancial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable 

master netting arrangements or similar netting arrangements. The application of the amendments has had no 

material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

 FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 The Group has applied FRS 113 for the fi rst time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of 

guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value measurement 

requirements of FRS 113 apply to both fi nancial instrument items and non-fi nancial assets for which other FRSs 

require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based 

payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are 

within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 

value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment 

purposes).

 FRS 113 includes extensive disclosure requirements, although specifi c transitional provisions were given to entities 

such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the standard in comparative information 

provided for periods before the initial application of the standard. Consequently the Group has not made any new 

disclosures required by FRS 113 for the comparative period.

 The application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRSs and amendments to FRS that are 

relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:

 FRS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (cont’d)

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements

 FRS 110 replaces the control assessment criteria and consolidation requirements currently in FRS 27 and INT FRS 

12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.

 FRS 110 defi nes the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 

consolidated in the consolidated fi nancial statements. It also provides more extensive application guidance on 

assessing control based on voting rights or other contractual rights. Under FRS 110, control assessment will be 

based on whether an investor has (i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the 

returns. FRS 27 remains as a standard applicable only to separate fi nancial statements.

 FRS 110 will take effect from fi nancial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with full retrospective application 

subject to transitional provisions. 

 When the Group adopts FRS 110, entities it currently consolidates may not qualify for consolidation, and entities it 

currently does not consolidate may qualify for consolidation. The Group is currently estimating the effects of FRS 

110 on its investments in the period of initial adoption. 

 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

 FRS 112 requires an entity to provide more extensive disclosures regarding the nature of and risks associated with 

its interest in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.

 FRS 112 will take effect from fi nancial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and the Group is currently 

estimating the extent of additional disclosures that may be needed.

 Management anticipates that the adoption of these FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that were issued at 

the authorisation of these fi nancial statements but not effective until future periods will have no material impact on 

the fi nancial statements of the Group and Company in the period of their initial adoption.

2.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the 

Company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is 

achieved where the Company has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an entity so as to 

obtain benefi ts from its activities.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income 

statement or the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to 

the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 

into line with those used by other members of the Group.

 All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identifi ed separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-

controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 

the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) 

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able 

net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of 

non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specifi ed in another FRS. 

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 

recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is 

attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a defi cit balance.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (cont’d)

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect 

the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-

controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profi t or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 

previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 

interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted 

for (i.e. reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would 

be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the 

former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent 

accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on 

initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

 In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost less any impairment in net 

recoverable value that has been recognised in profi t or loss.

2.4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition 

method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair values 

of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued 

by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profi t or loss as 

incurred.

 Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values 

are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify 

as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classifi ed. Contingent 

consideration that is classifi ed as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classifi ed as an asset or a liability 

is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the 

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profi t or loss.

 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity 

are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or 

loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 

that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such 

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

 The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 

the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefi t arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts 

respectively;

 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the 

replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards 

transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the 

acquisition date; and

 assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

58 Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities 

are recognised, to refl ect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 

information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of 

one year from acquisition date.

 The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.

2.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT - Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet 

when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 

of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective 

interest basis for debt instruments. 

 Financial assets

 All fi nancial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 

is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 

concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

 Loans and receivables

 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market are classifi ed as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate method, 

except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future cash fl ows of the investment have been impacted. 

 Objective evidence of impairment could include: 

 signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty of the issuer or counterparty; or 

 default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial re-organisation. 

 For certain categories of fi nancial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a 

portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, as well as observable 

changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (cont’d)

 The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi nancial assets with the 

exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 

amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 

allowance account are recognised in profi t or loss.

 Derecognition of fi nancial assets

 The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 

entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 

to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 

amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

fi nancial asset, the Group continues to recognise the fi nancial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 

for the proceeds received.

 Classifi cation as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classifi ed according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability and an equity instrument. 

 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an 

effective yield basis, except for short-term payable when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and subsequently at the higher of 

the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation in 

accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

 Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

 The Group derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or they expire.

2.6 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS - Project revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses 

respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, when 

the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract 

cannot be estimated reliably, project revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to 

be recoverable and contract costs are recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 Project revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, 

claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of 

being reliably measured.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.6 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (cont’d)

 Revenue arising from fi xed price contracts is recognised in accordance with percentage of completion method. The 

stage of completion is determined by reference to professional surveys of work performed.

 An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that 

total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue. 

2.7 LEASES - Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases.

 The Group as lessee

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts 

from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 

liability. The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 

except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts from 

the leased asset are consumed.

2.8 INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the 

inventories to its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

 - Raw materials: purchase costs determined on a fi rst-in, fi rst-out basis; and

 - Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing 

overheads based on normal operating capacity. The direct materials and labour costs are assigned on 

specifi c identifi cation basis and the overheads are assigned on allocation basis.

 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value 

of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 

estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold factory building

Leasehold improvement

Offi ce equipment

Furniture and fi ttings

Motor vehicles

Computers

Renovation

Machinery

Site equipment

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

22 years (lease term)

10 years

5 to 10 years

3 to 10 years

5 years

3 to 10 years

3 to 10 years

5 to 10 years

5 years
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

 Construction-in-progress included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not 

available for use.

 The carrying values of  property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 

effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profi t or loss.

2.10 GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is 

acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, 

the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 

interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifi able assets acquired and the 

liabilities assumed.

 If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets exceeds the sum 

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the 

acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss 

as a bargain purchase gain.

 Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, 

goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefi t from the synergies of the 

combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or 

more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount 

of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 

amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

 On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 

the determination of the profi t or loss on disposal.

2.11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Intangible assets acquired separately

 Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation (where they have fi nite 

useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with fi nite useful lives are amortised on a 

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed 

at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 

prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives are not amortised. Each period, the useful lives of 

such assets are reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefi nite useful 

life assessment for the asset. Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy below.

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identifi ed and recognised separately from goodwill. The 

cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date. 

 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired 

separately.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.12 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting 

period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there 

is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 

identifi ed, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to 

the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identifi ed.

 Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 

annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset for which the estimates of future 

cash fl ows have not been adjusted. 

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or 

loss.

2.13 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive), as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash fl ows.

 When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.14 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  

Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 (i) Sale of goods

  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfi ed:

 the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

 it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the entity; and

 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.14 REVENUE RECOGNITION (cont’d)

 (ii) Rendering of services

  Revenue from a contract to provide services, other than project revenue, is recognised upon completion of 

services. 

 (iii) Project revenue

  Revenue recognition from project revenue is set out in the Group’s accounting policy on construction 

contracts (see Note 2.6).

 (iv) Interest income

  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 (v) Dividend income

  Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have 

been established.

2.15 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are charged as an 

expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. The Group participates in 

the national pension schemes as defi ned by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. In particular, the 

Company makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) scheme in Singapore, a defi ned contribution 

pension scheme. The subsidiaries in Malaysia make contribution to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). The 

subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) are required to provide certain staff pension 

benefi ts to their employees under existing PRC regulations. Pension contributions are provided at rates stipulated by 

PRC regulations and are contributed to a pension fund managed by government agencies, which are responsible for 

administering these amounts for the subsidiary’s PRC employees. 

2.16 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue 

to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the end of the reporting period.

2.17 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year. Taxable profi t differs from profi t as reported in 

the consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income 

or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the fi nancial 

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profi t, and is accounted for 

using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting 

profi t.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.17 INCOME TAX (cont’d)

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be suffi cient taxable profi ts against which to utilise the 

benefi ts of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 

recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 

asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 

of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets refl ects the tax consequences that 

would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 

Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except when they relate to 

items credited or debited outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which 

case the tax is also recognised outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business 

combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s 

interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

2.18 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial statements of each entity 

within the Group are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet 

of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the 

presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of 

each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at 

the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on translation of monetary items are included 

in profi t or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair 

value are included in profi t or loss for the period except for differences arising on the translation of non-monetary 

items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary 

items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, 

are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign 

currency borrowings.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.18 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION (cont’d)

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end 

of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange 

rates for the period, unless exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that period, in which case the exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency 

translation reserve.

 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 

disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or loss of signifi cant infl uence 

over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that 

operation attributable to the Group are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously 

been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

 In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 

proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 

recognised in profi t or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates that do not result in the Group losing 

signifi cant infl uence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassifi ed to profi t or 

loss.

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including 

monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other 

currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency translation reserve.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

2.19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the 

statement of cash fl ows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of 

changes in value.

2.20 BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are 

incurred.

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment 

income earned on the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to the fi nancial statements, 

management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

 Critical judgements made in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgement are not expected to have a signifi cant 

effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

 The judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the 

Group’s accounting policies and that have the most signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial 

statements:

 (i) Income taxes

  The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Signifi cant judgement is involved in 

determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations 

for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 

recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 

Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 

determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s tax recoverable, income tax payable, deferred tax 

assets and deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period was $539,000 (2012 : $Nil), $2,170,000 

(2012 : $2,978,000), $61,000 (2012 : $10,000) and $97,000 (2012 : $63,000) respectively. The carrying 

amount of the Company’s net income tax payables and deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting period 

was $1,178,000 (2012 : $934,000) and $61,000 (2012 : $10,000) respectively.

 (ii) Determination of functional currency

  The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company 

and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, judgement is 

required to determine the currency that mainly infl uences sales prices for goods and services and of the 

country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and 

services. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based on management’s 

assessment of the economic environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ process of 

determining sales prices.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

 (i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

  The costs of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the property, plant 

and equipment’s estimated economic useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, 

plant and equipment to be within 3 to 22 years. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological 

developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore, 

future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and 

equipment at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 4 to the fi nancial statements. 

 (ii) Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

  The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-fi nancial assets at each 

reporting date. Non-fi nancial assets of the Group are tested for impairment when there are indicators that 

the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management 

must estimate the expected future cash fl ows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows. The carrying amounts of the non-

fi nancial assets of the Group and the Company at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Notes 4, 

5, 6 and 7 to the fi nancial statements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 (iii) Impairment of loans and receivables

  The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 

fi nancial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group 

considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor and 

default or signifi cant delay in payments.

  Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash fl ows are estimated 

based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amount of 

the Group’s loans and receivables at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 9 to the fi nancial 

statements.

 (iv) Stage of completion of construction contracts

  The Group recognises project revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at 

the end of the reporting period, when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. 

The stage of completion is determined by reference to professional surveys of work performed. Signifi cant 

assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverability of variation works. The 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising from construction contracts at the end of the reporting 

period are disclosed in Note 8 to the fi nancial statements.

 (v) Deferred tax assets

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and reinvestment allowances (“RA”) to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against which the losses or RA can be utilised. 

Signifi cant management’s judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 

recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profi ts together with future tax planning 

strategies. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in 

Note 18 to the fi nancial statements.

 (vi) Retention monies classifi cations as non-current

  Management determines whether any portion of retention monies should be classified as non-

current based on estimation of the collection of such balance at the end of the reporting 

period. Based upon this estimation process, management is of the opinion that retention 

monies of the Group and the Company of $8,180,000 (2012 : $7,725,000) and $5,699,000 

(2012 : $4,459,000)  respectively should be classifi ed as non-current.

 (vii) Impairment of goodwill

  Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 

units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the 

future cash fl ows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 

calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was $2,729,000 

(2012 : $2,729,000). No impairment loss has been recognised. Details of impairment assessment are 

provided in Note 6 to the fi nancial statements.
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5 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 18,483 18,283

Less:  Impairment losses (1,127) (1,127)

17,356 17,156

Long-term loan to a subsidiary 25,387 25,907

42,743 43,063

 Long-term loan to a subsidiary is non-interest bearing and has no fi xed repayment terms.

 During the year ended 31 December 2012, impairment loss amounting to approximately $61,000 was recognised 

for D S Interior Decoration (Middle East) LLC as the subsidiary had been suffering losses for the past few fi nancial 

years.

 Loan to a subsidiary of $2,000,000 is non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

   

Name

Principal activities/ 

Country of incorporation 

and operation        

Proportion of 

ownership 

interest (%) Voting power (%)

2013 2012 2013 2012

Held by the Company:

DS Furniture Manufacturer

Sdn. Bhd. *

Design, manufacture and trading 

of panel furniture products/

Malaysia

100 100 100 100

Design Studio Furniture

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd #

Manufacture and supply/

installation of paneling products/

People’s Republic of China

100 100 100 100

DS Interior Contracts

& Renovation (Shanghai)

Co., Ltd #

Interior fi tting-out and structural 

work to residential, commercial 

and retail properties/

People’s Republic of China

100 100 100 100

Design Studio Asia Pte. Ltd. +X Investment holding company/

Singapore

100 100 100 100

D S Interior Decoration

(Middle East) LLC *

Interior decoration works/

United Arab Emirates

49@ 49@ 100 100

Design Studio (China) Pte. Ltd. ** Investment holding company/

Singapore

100 100 100 100

DDS Asia Holdings Pte Ltd ** Investment holding company/

Singapore

100 100 100 100



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

71Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

5 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Name

Principal activities/ 

Country of incorporation 

and operation        

Proportion of 

ownership 

interest (%) Voting power (%)

2013 2012 2013 2012

Held by Design Studio (China) Pte. Ltd.:

Design Studio (Huizhou) Home

Furnishing Co., Ltd *

Manufacture and trading of

paneling products/

People’s Republic of China

100 100 100 100

Held by Design Studio Asia Pte. Ltd.:

Design Studio Singapore

Pte Ltd ** ^

Design, manufacture and

installation of paneling products/

Singapore

100 – 100 –

DS Project Management 

Sdn Bhd +^

Design, manufacture and trading 

of panel furniture products/

Malaysia

100 – 100 –

Held by DDS Asia Holdings Pte Ltd:

DDS Contracts & Interior

Solutions Pte Ltd **

Interior fi tting-out and furnishing

solutions/ 

Singapore

100 100 100 100

DDS Contracts & Interior

Solutions Sdn Bhd *

Interior fi tting-out and furnishing

solutions/ 

Malaysia

100 100 100 100

DDS Contracts & Interior

Solutions (Thailand) Co.,

Ltd ##

Interior fi tting-out and furnishing

solutions/ 

Thailand

69.39 69.39 69.39 69.39

DDS Contracts & Interior

Solutions (Vietnam) Co., Ltd +

Interior fi tting-out and furnishing

solutions/ 

Vietnam

100 100 100 100

 * Audited by member fi rms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

 # Audited by Ruihua Certifi ed Public Accountants.

 ** Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

 X Previously known as DSI (Middle East) Pte. Ltd.

 + Not required to present audited fi nancial statements under the laws of its country of incorporation.

 @ Although the Company holds 49% of the issued share capital in D S Interior Decoration (Middle East) LLC (“DS LLC”), DS 

LLC is accounted for as a wholly-owned subsidiary as the remaining 51% is held in trust by a nominee shareholder, who has 

assigned all the voting rights and benefi cial interests in DS LLC to the Company.

 ## Audited by Chatchawat Auditing & Tax Co., Ltd.

 ^ Newly incorporated during the year.
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Club membership 128 128 128 128

Order backlog 3,116 3,116   –     –  

3,244 3,244 128 128

Less: Accumulated amortisation (3,195) (3,189) (79)  (73)

49 55 49 55

Goodwill 2,729 2,729   –     –  

2,778 2,784   49   55

 The intangible assets included above, except for goodwill, have fi nite useful lives, over which the assets are 

amortised. The amortisation period for club membership and order backlog is 21 years and 1 year respectively. 

 Club membership

 Movement in accumulated amortisation of club membership during the fi nancial year was as follows:

Group and Company

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

At beginning of year 73 67

Amortisation during the year 6 6

At end of year 79 73

 The amortisation expense had been included in the line item “general and administrative expenses” in profi t or loss.

 Order backlog

 Movement in order backlog during the fi nancial year was as follows:

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cost:

At beginning of year 3,116    –    

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 28)    –     3,116

At end of year 3,116 3,116

Accumulated amortisation:

At beginning of year 3,116    –    

Amortisation during the year    –     3,116

At end of year 3,116 3,116

Carrying amount:

At beginning and end of year    –        –    

 The amortisation expense had been included in the line item “general and administrative expenses” in profi t or loss. 
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

 Goodwill

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cost:

At beginning of year 2,729 –

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 28) – 2,729

At end of year 2,729 2,729

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) that is 

expected to benefi t from that business combination. Goodwill is allocated to the hospitality and commercial projects 

unit of DDS Group. The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that 

goodwill might be impaired.

 The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value 

in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to contract sums 

and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that refl ect current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the CGU. The growth rates are based on 

industry growth forecasts. Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of 

future changes in the market. 

 The Group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved by management 

for the next fi ve years and extrapolates cash fl ows for the subsequent years based on estimated growth rate of 3% 

(2012 : 3%). The rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. 

 The rate used to discount the forecast cash fl ows is 16.5% (2012 : 15.8%).

 At 31 December 2013, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied is not likely to cause the 

recoverable amount to be below the carrying amount of the CGU.

7 INVENTORIES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw materials, at cost 11,428 12,579 1,105 1,237

Work-in-progress, at cost 2,468 1,903 211 158

Finished goods, at cost 878 549 507 328

14,774 15,031 1,823 1,723

 

 The amount of inventories charged to the contract cost during the year was $22,765,000 (2012 : $27,140,000). The 

contract cost was recognised as expense in cost of sales based on stage of completion of the contract activity at 

the end of the reporting period.
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8 GROSS AMOUNT DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK-IN-

PROGRESS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Aggregate amount of costs incurred and 

 recognised profi ts (less recognised losses) to date 418,019 345,342 292,144 276,149

Less:  Progress billings (411,625) (338,239) (289,218) (270,211)

Presented as:

Gross amount due from customers for contract work    6,394    7,103    2,926    5,938

Retention monies on construction contract 

 included in trade receivables   19,532   17,850   11,545    9,909

9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables (non-current):

Retention monies:

Third parties 8,009 7,535 4,726 4,078

Corporate shareholder 171 190 171 190

Subsidiary –  –  802 191

8,180 7,725 5,699 4,459

Trade receivables (current):

Third parties:

Trade receivables 32,843 32,962 15,517 13,475

Retention monies 11,621 10,125 5,126 5,061

44,464 43,087 20,643 18,536

Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (440) –  (440) – 

44,024 43,087 20,203 18,536

Corporate shareholder:

Trade receivables 448 2,200 448 2,200

Retention monies 171 –  171 – 

619 2,200 619 2,200

Subsidiaries:

Trade receivables –  –  2,887 1,123

Retention monies –  –  989 389

–  –  3,876 1,512

Total trade receivables (current) 44,643 45,287 24,698 22,248

Other receivables and deposits:

Other receivables 4,554 4,552 74 89

Deposits 3,950 5,794 227 213

8,504 10,346 301 302

Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) –  –  7,409 7,307

Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables –  –  (94) (717)

8,504 10,346 7,616 6,892

Total trade and other receivable (current) 53,147 55,633 32,314 29,140
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

 Trade receivables including amounts due from a corporate shareholder are non-interest bearing and are generally 

on 30 to 90 days’ terms (2012 : 30 to 90 days’ terms). They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which 

represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 Other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade, unsecured, non-interest bearing and are 

repayable on demand.

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company provided an allowance of $440,000 (2012 : $Nil) 

for amount due from a third party and $94,000 (2012 : $717,000) for amount due from a subsidiary respectively 

based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference to the fi nancial capability of the respective 

parties as well as past default experience. 

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Group and the Company have trade receivables, excluding retention monies and including amount due from 

a corporate shareholder amounting to $448,000 (2012 : $2,200,000), that are past due at the end of the reporting 

period but not impaired. The analysis of their aging at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables past due:

61 to 90 days 524 1,337 178 253

91 to 150 days 236 306 50 243

More than 150 days 624 3,365 1,465 3,142

1,384 5,008 1,693 3,638

 

 The Group and the Company have not provided for these balances which are past due as there has not been a 

signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group and the Company 

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 Movement in allowance accounts:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Third parties:

Charge for the year and balance at end of the year (440) – (440) –

Amount due from subsidiaries (non-trade):

At beginning of the year – – (717) –

Charge for the year – – (94) (717)

Written off – – 717 –

At end of the year – – (94) (717)
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10 CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at banks and on hand 41,399 26,849 11,478 9,680

Cash at bank (pledged) –      2,246 –      –    

41,399 29,095 11,478 9,680

Fixed deposits (secured) 92 –      –      –    

Fixed deposits (unsecured) 3,386 –      –      –    

3,478 –      –      –    

Total cash and short-term deposits 44,877 29,095 11,478 9,680

 Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates at 0.05% (2012 : 

0.10% to 0.50%) per annum.  Fixed deposits of the Group bear interest ranging from 0.18% to 3.50% 

(2012 : Nil%) per annum and for tenure of one to fi ve months (2012 : Nil).

 Banking facilities are secured by pledge of cash and short-term deposits of a subsidiary amounting to $92,000 

(2012 : $2,246,000) and corporate guarantees by the Company. No material adjustment was required in the 

separate fi nancial statements of the Company to recognise the fi nancial guarantee liability.

11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current:

Trade payables:

Amounts due to third parties 8,414 7,951 3,525 3,139

Amounts due to subsidiaries –  –  6,001 10,244

Amounts due to a corporate shareholder 141 87 –  – 

Retention payables 7,529 5,128 1,283 1,083

16,084 13,166 10,809 14,466

Other payables 1,885 1,519 430 325

Non-trade payables due to a corporate shareholder 18 87 –  41

Accrued operating expenses 28,575 22,026 10,062 4,973

Deposits received 2,873 2,615 566 1,586

33,351 26,247 11,058 6,925

Trade and other payables 49,435 39,413 21,867 21,391

 Included in the accrued operating expenses is $23,122,000 (2012 : $16,591,000) for accruals related to projects.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current:

Other payables – 125 – –
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11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cont’d)

 Trade payables and other payables

 Trade payables and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 days’ terms 

(2012 : 30 to 60 days’ terms).

 Amounts due to subsidiaries and a corporate shareholder

 Amounts due to subsidiaries and a corporate shareholder are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on 

demand.

 Deposits received

 Deposits received are non-interest bearing and are proportionately offset against the progress billings made to 

customers.

12 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2013 2012

No. of shares No. of shares

’000 $’000 ’000 $’000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 260,264 32,732 255,223 30,161

Shares issued for acquisition of a subsidiary 

 (Note 28) –      –    5,041   2,571

At 31 December 260,264 32,732 260,264 32,732

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 

shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

13 REVENUE

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Project revenue 175,985 153,939

Sale of goods 2,112  6,692

178,097 160,631
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14 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 26,024 23,345

Defi ned contribution plan 2,698 2,221

Other personnel expenses 655 976

29,377 26,542

Less:  Directors’ remuneration (2,482) (2,642)

26,895 23,900

 

 Personnel expenses are classifi ed as part of cost of sales, marketing and distribution expenses or general and 

administrative expenses, as appropriate.

15 OTHER INCOME

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Sundry income 55 30

Gain on re-measurement of equity interest to fair value (Note 28) –     2,339

55 2,369

16 PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

 This is determined after charging (crediting) the following:

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Audit fees

-  paid to auditors of the Company 133 130

-  paid to other auditors 89 82

Non-audit fees

-  paid to auditors of the Company 28 34

-  paid to other auditors 10 10

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,575 3,863

Directors’ fees 328 373

Directors’ remuneration (Note 14)

-  directors of the Company 1,611 2,249

-  other directors 871 393

Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net (296) 1,044

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (12) (64)

Operating lease expenses 2,883 2,804

Interest accretion (106) (179)

Amortisation of order backlog –  3,116

Amortisation of club membership 6 6

Impairment loss on doubtful receivables 440 – 
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17 FINANCE EXPENSES AND FINANCE INCOME

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Finance expenses:

-  Bank overdrafts – 1

-  Finance leases – 3

– 4

Finance income:

-  Fixed deposits 14 18

 

18 TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Major components of income tax expense:

Current tax:

Singapore

- current year 1,945 1,951

- under (over) provision in respect of prior year 8 (318)

Foreign

- current year 1,555 2,486

-  (over) under provision in respect of prior year (13) 7

Deferred tax:

Singapore

- current year (55) (697)

Foreign

- origination and reversal of temporary differences 41 43

3,481 3,472

 Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2012 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profi t for the year. Taxation for 

other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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18 TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profi t:

 The reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profi t multiplied by the applicable tax rate 
is as follows:

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Profi t before tax 15,340 14,781

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profi ts in the countries where the Group

 operates 3,278 4,545

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 258 340

Income not subject to taxation (9) (514)

Tax exemption (52) (52)

Deduction on tax incentives (34) (98)

Total over provision in respect of prior year - current tax (5) (311)

Utilisation of deferred tax benefi ts not recognised in prior year 99 126

Deferred tax on acquisition of a subsidiary –     (616)

Others (54) 52

  3,481   3,472
 
 The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.

 The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and Company, and the 
movements thereon, during the current and prior reporting period:

Differences in 

depreciation

Unrealised

foreign

exchange

Other

general

provision

Unabsorbed

reinvestment

   allowance   

Intangibles 

and fair value

  adjustment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Deferred tax assets (net)

At 1 January 2012 – – –  –  – –  

Credit to profi t or loss for 

 the year 10  –  –  –  –  10

At 31 December 2012 10  –   – –  –  10

Credit to profi t or loss for 

 the year 51  –   – –  –  51

At 31 December 2013 61  –   –  –  –  61

Deferred tax liabilities (net)

At 1 January 2012 91   2   (5) –  –  88

(Credit) Charge to profi t or

 loss for the year (47) 8 11 –  (616) (644)

Acquisition of a subsidiary

 (Note 28) 22  –   –  –  598 620

Exchange difference – (1) – – – (1)

At 31 December 2012 66   9 6 –  (18) 63

Charge to profi t or loss for 

 the year 16   12 3 –  6 37

Exchange difference – (3) – – – (3)

At 31 December 2013 82 18 9 –   (12) 97
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18 TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

Differences in 

depreciation

Other

general

provision Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)

At 1 January 2012 (71)  8 (63)

Credit (Charge) to profi t or loss for the year 81 (8) 73

At 31 December 2012 10  – 10

Credit to profi t or loss for the year 51  – 51

At 31 December 2013 61  – 61

19 EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t for the year by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year.

 Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t for the year by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that 

would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

 The following table refl ects the income and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per 

share for the years ended 31 December:

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Profi t attributable to equity holders of the Company 11,945 11,663

No. of 

shares

No. of 

shares

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share and 

 diluted earnings per share 260,264 259,286

 There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 (i) Sale and purchase of goods and services

  In addition to those related party information disclosed elsewhere in the fi nancial statements, the following 

signifi cant transactions between the Group and related parties took place at terms agreed between the 

parties during the fi nancial year.

  The Group had the following signifi cant related party transactions on terms agreed by the respective parties.

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Sales to immediate holding company’s group of companies 1,413 1,944

Sales of fi nished goods to a director –    195

Purchases from immediate holding company 15 862

Purchase of services from fi rms related to directors      75      76

 (ii) Compensation of key management personnel

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefi ts 4,460 4,687

Central Provident Fund contributions    163    174

4,623 4,861

Comprise amounts paid to:

Directors of the Company 1,611 2,249

Other key management personnel 3,012 2,612

4,623 4,861

21 COMMITMENTS

 (i) Operating lease commitments - As lessee

  The Group and Company had various operating lease agreements for leasehold land, equipment, 

offi ce and other facilities that are non-cancellable within one year.  These lease terms have an average 

tenure of between three to six years with no renewal option or contingent rent provision included in the 

contracts. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional 

debt or further leasing.

  Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as 

follows:

 

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not later than one year 2,237 1,658 699 397

Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 2,894 2,942 607 448

Later than fi ve years 1,527 1,533    714    677

6,658 6,133 2,020 1,522
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21 COMMITMENTS (cont’d)

 (ii) Capital commitments

  Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the fi nancial 

statements are as follows:

 

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital commitments in respect

   of property, plant and equipment  –     111    –       –       

22 CONTINGENCIES

 Guarantees

 The Company had provided corporate guarantees of approximately $16,359,000 (2012 : $14,677,000) in favour of 

banks and fi nancial institutions for the granting of credit facilities to three subsidiaries. 

 Financial support

 The Company has undertaken to provide fi nancial support to two subsidiaries for defi ciency in their shareholders’ 

funds and to extend adequate funding to meeting their net current liability position for the years ended 31 December 

2013 and 2012.

23 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and 

has three reportable operating segments as follows:

 Business segments

 The residential property projects segment is involved in the manufacture, supply and installation of paneling products 

such as kitchen and vanity cabinets, wardrobes, doors and door frames and furniture components for local and 

overseas markets.

 The hospitality and commercial projects segment is in the business of providing interior fi tting-out services to hotels, 

resorts, offi ce, shops and bank branches.

 The distribution projects segment relates to the distributorship of furniture products of reputable overseas brands.

 No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 

about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 

profi t or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profi t 

or loss in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

 Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with 

third parties.
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23 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
 

Residential

property

 projects  

Hospitality

and

commercial

 projects  

Distribution

 projects  

Adjustments

and

eliminations Notes Consolidated

2013 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue:

External customers 71,974 104,011 2,112 –     178,097

Inter-segment   28,512   28,637    –    (57,149) A      –     

Total revenue 100,486 132,648 2,112 (57,149) 178,097

Results:

Other income –     –     –    55 55

Other non-cash expenses (440) –     –    (4,581) B (5,021)

Segment profi t before tax   8,585   11,180      81  (4,506) C   15,340

Assets:

Additions to 

 non-current assets –     74 –    1,181 D 1,255

Segment assets   27,478   66,811 1,184 61,706 E 157,179

Liabilities:

Segment liabilities   10,371   29,990      75 11,266 F   51,702

2012

Revenue:

External customers 49,949 103,990 6,692     –      160,631

Inter-segment 31,380   44,110    222 (75,712) A      –     

Total revenue 81,329 148,100 6,914 (75,712) 160,631

Results:

Other income     –      2,339    –     30 2,369

Other non-cash expenses     –      (3,116)    –     (3,869) B (6,985)

Segment profi t before tax   4,814   11,385 2,401  (3,819) C   14,781

Assets:

Additions to 

 non-current assets     –      2,813    –     5,099 D 7,912

Segment assets 27,314   55,330 2,106 60,280 E 145,030

Liabilities:

Segment liabilities   6,894   25,758    317   9,610 F   42,579

 A Inter-segment revenue is eliminated on consolidation.

 B Other non-cash expenses consist of impairment loss on doubtful receivables, depreciation expenses, 

amortisation of club membership and amortisation of order backlog.
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23 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 C The following items are deducted from segment profi t before tax to arrive at “profi t before tax” presented in 

the consolidated income statement.

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Other income 55 30

Finance expenses –     (4)

Finance income 14 18

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   (4,575)   (3,863)

  (4,506)   (3,819)

 

 D Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment and goodwill from 

acquisition of a subsidiary.

 E The following items are added to segment assets to arrive at total assets presented in the consolidated 

balance sheet.

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 24,520 26,501

Club membership 49 55

Deferred tax assets 61 10

Cash and short-term deposits 18,631 12,574

Inventories 12,155 13,570

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments    6,290    7,570

  61,706   60,280

 F The following items are added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities presented in the consolidated 

balance sheet.

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Other payables 5,193 5,472

Trade payables 2,443 2,613

Provision for tax 1,219 1,196

Deferred tax liabilities 106 68

Deposits received    2,305       261

  11,266    9,610
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23 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 Geographical information

 Revenue by geographical markets are as follows:

 

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Singapore 128,631 111,239

Malaysia 43,025 43,850

United Arab Emirates 1,448 2,334

People’s Republic of China 2,080 509

Others    2,913    2,699

178,097 160,631

 Carrying amount of non-current assets by geographical markets are as follows:

Group

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Singapore 7,173 8,023

Malaysia 1,007 1,571

People’s Republic of China 19,470 20,202

United Arab Emirates         26         79

  27,676   29,875

 Information about a major customer

 Revenue from a major customer amounted to $44,181,000 (2012 : $22,278,000) arising from sales in the hospitality 

and commercial projects segment.

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 

POLICIES

 (a) Categories of fi nancial instruments

 

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Receivables 

 (including cash and cash equivalents) 104,701 90,797 51,491 43,279

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost   49,435 39,538 21,867 21,391

 (b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements

  The Group and the Company do not have any fi nancial instruments which are subject to offsetting, 

enforceable master netting arrangements or similar netting arrangements.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 

POLICIES (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management

  The Group and the Company are exposed to fi nancial risks arising from its operations.  The key fi nancial 

risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for the 

management of these risks and they are summarised as follows:

  (i) Credit risk

   The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other 

receivables.  For other fi nancial assets including cash and short-term deposits, the Group and the 

Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

   The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due 

to increased credit risk exposure.  The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third 

parties.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the Group’s 

exposure to bad debts.  For transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating 

unit, the payment terms are usually by letter of credits or advance payment before shipment.

   Exposure to credit risk

   At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk 

is represented by:

   - the carrying amount of each class of fi nancial assets recognised in the balance sheets; and

   - a nominal amount of $16,359,000 (2012 : $14,677,000) relating to corporate guarantees 

provided by the Company in favour of banks and fi nancial institutions for the granting of credit 

facilities to three subsidiaries.

   Information regarding credit enhancements for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 9.

   Credit risk concentration profi le

   Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited to the entities comprising 

the Group’s customer base in Singapore.  The credit risk concentration profi le of the Group’s trade 

receivables including amounts due from a corporate shareholder at the end of the reporting period is 

as follows:

2013 2012

$’000 % of total $’000 % of total

Group

By country:

Singapore 37,922 71.79 35,890 67.70

Malaysia 12,640 23.93 11,200 21.13

United Arab Emirates 1,402 2.65 4,742 8.95

Thailand 709 1.34 1,172 2.20

Others     150    0.29         8    0.02

52,823 100.00 53,012 100.00



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

88 Design Studio Group Ltd

Annual Report 2013

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 

POLICIES (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management (cont’d)

  (i) Credit risk (cont’d)

  

   At the end of the reporting period, approximately:

   - 53.74% (2012 : 60.98%) of the Group’s third party trade receivables were due from 5 major 

customers who are property conglomerates located in Singapore and Malaysia.

   - 1.50% (2012 : 4.51%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from related parties.

   Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

   Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with 

good payment record with the Group.  Cash and short-term deposits that are neither past due nor 

impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable fi nancial institutions or companies with high 

credit ratings and no history of default.

   Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

   Information regarding fi nancial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 9.

  (ii) Liquidity risk 

   The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Group’s 

and the Company’s business activities.  The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a 

balance between continuity of funding and fl exibility through diverse sources of committed and 

uncommitted credit facilities from various banks.

   Group

   All fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 are repayable on 

demand or due within one year from the end of the reporting period and are non-interest bearing 

except for retention monies of $8,180,000 (2012 : $7,725,000) and other payables of $Nil 

(2012 : $125,000) that are repayable after a year and cash and short-term deposits which bear 

interest at rates ranging from 0.05% to 3.50% (2012 : 0.10% to 0.50%) per annum.

   Company

   All fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 are repayable on 

demand or due within one year from the end of the reporting period and are non-interest bearing 

except for retention monies of $5,699,000 (2012 : $4,459,000) that are repayable after a year.

  (iii) Foreign currency risk

   The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are 

denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily 

US Dollars (USD), Malaysian Ringgit (Ringgit) and Renminbi (RMB). The Group uses foreign currency 

forward exchange contracts to manage these foreign exchange risks. As at year-end, the Group has 

no outstanding foreign currency forward exchange contracts.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 

POLICIES (cont’d)

 (c) Financial risk management (cont’d)

  (iii) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

   Foreign currency denominated fi nancial assets and liabilities of the Group and Company are shown in 
the following table:

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables:

USD 1,645 3,712 3,262 5,159

Ringgit 15,181 13,388    –        –    

UAE Dirhams 66 68    –        –    

RMB 4,111 4,473    –        –    

Baht 914 1,407 298 474

Euro     –          951 3,544 3,331

Cash and short-term deposits:

USD 4,460 2,037 2,184 2,018

Ringgit 6,144 8,300    –        –    

RMB 1,051 1,423    –        –    

Euro 541 3 541 3

Baht 26 141    –        –    

UAE Dirhams        89       77    –        –    

Trade and other payables:

USD 166 318 114 201

Ringgit 11,236 10,455 22 15

Euro 510 604 501 406

Baht 57 1,118  – 33

UAE Dirhams 373 312  – 41

RMB 2,391 2,171 828 490

   Sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk

   The following table denominates the sensitivity of the Group’s profi t before tax to a reasonably 
possible change in the USD, Ringgit and RMB exchange rates against the respective functional 
currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables held constant.

 

Group

Profi t before tax

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

USD/SGD - strengthened 5% (2012 : 5%) 297 272

- weakened 5% (2012 : 5%) (297) (272)

Ringgit/SGD - strengthened 5% (2012 : 5%) 504 562

- weakened 5% (2012 : 5%) (504) (562)

RMB/SGD - strengthened 5% (2012 : 5%) 139 186

- weakened 5% (2012 : 5%) (139) (186)
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25 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 

estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of a fi nancial instrument, the Group takes 

into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when 

pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 

 The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of fi nancial instrument:

 Bank balances, short-term receivables and other current liabilities

 The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments.

 Other classes of fi nancial assets and liabilities

 Management considers that the carrying amounts recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements 

approximate their fair values.

26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 

healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 

to shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 

years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.  The 

Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 30% in view of strong cash position. The Group includes within net 

debt, trade and other payables, accrued operating expenses, deposits received, loans and borrowings, less cash 

and short-term deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other payables (Note 11) 49,435 39,538 21,867 21,391

Less:

Cash at banks and on hand (Note 10) (41,399) (29,095) (11,478) (9,680)

Fixed deposits (Note 10)   (3,478)      –         –         –     

Net cash    4,558   10,443 10,389 11,711

Equity attributable to the equity holders of 

 the Company, representing total capital 105,877 102,765 81,109 76,864

Capital and net debt 110,435 113,208 91,498 88,575
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27 DIVIDENDS
 

Group and Company

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Declared and paid during the fi nancial year:

Dividends on ordinary shares:

- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2012 : 0.75 cents (2011 : 1.25 cents) per share 1,952 3,253

- Special exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2012 : 2.50 cents (2011 : Nil cents) per share 6,507 –    

- Interim exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2013 : 0.50 cents (2012 : 0.75 cents) per share   1,301 1,952

          9,760 5,205

Proposed but not recognised as liability as at 31 December:

Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM:

- Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2013 : 1.00 cents (2012 : 0.75 cents) per share 2,603 1,952

- Special exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2013 : 5.00 cents (2012 : 2.50 cents) per share 13,013 6,507

15,616 8,459

28 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY 

 On 8 March 2012, the Company acquired additional 55% equity interest in its 45%-owned associate, DDS Asia 

Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“DDS”) from the immediate holding company, Depa Interiors LLC. Upon completion of the 

acquisition, DDS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The transaction was accounted for by the 

acquisition method of accounting. 

 DDS is an entity incorporated in Singapore with its principal activity being investment holding. It is the holding 

company to four subsidiaries (“DDS Group”), as disclosed in Note 5. The Group acquired DDS for various reasons, 

the primary reason being to allow the Company to have full management and equity rights over the DDS Group so 

as to facilitate decision making in relation to the growth and expansion of the DDS Group growing forward. 

 Consideration transferred (at acquisition date fair values)

 

$’000

Cash paid 12,100

Fair value of equity instruments (5,041,666 ordinary shares of the Company)   2,571

Total consideration transferred 14,671

Fair value of 45% equity interest in DDS 12,000

26,671

 Acquisition-related costs had been excluded from the consideration transferred and had been recognised as an 

expense, within the “general and administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated income statement.

 Net cash outfl ow on acquisition of a subsidiary

$’000

Cash consideration 12,100

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired  (9,953)

  2,147

 Included in the cash and short-term deposits acquired as part of the acquisition of subsidiary was fi xed deposit 

pledged of $1,774,000.
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28 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)

 Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition

 

$’000

Property, plant and equipment 466

Order backlog 3,116

Contract work-in-progress 3,450

Trade and other receivables 24,607

Prepayments 28

Cash and short-term deposits 11,727

43,394

Trade and other payables 17,761

Finance leases 28

Provision for tax 998

Deferred tax liabilities     620

19,407

Fair value of identifi able net assets acquired 23,987

 The receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables) in these transactions with a fair value 

of $24,607,000 had gross contractual amounts of $25,059,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the 

contractual cash fl ows not expected to be collected is $452,000.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition

$’000

Consideration transferred 26,671

Add: Non-controlling interest 45

Less: Fair value of identifi able net assets acquired (23,987)

Goodwill arising on acquisition   2,729

 The non-controlling interest represents a non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of net identifi able assets of a 

subsidiary of DDS.

 Goodwill arose in the acquisition of DDS because the cost of the combination included a control premium. In 

addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefi t of 

expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of DDS. These 

benefi ts are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifi able 

intangible assets.

 The Group also acquired the customer lists and customer relationships of DDS as part of the acquisition. These 

assets could not be separately recognised from goodwill because they are not capable of being separated from the 

Group and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with any related contracts. 

Consequently, they are subsumed into goodwill.

 None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
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28 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)

 Gain on re-measurement of equity interest to fair value

 The Group recognised a gain of $2,339,000 as a result of measuring at fair value its 45% equity interest in DDS held 

before the business combination. The gain is included in “Other income” line item in the Group’s profi t or loss for the 

year ended 31 December 2012. 

 Impact of acquisition on profi t or loss 

 Included in the profi t for 2012 was $8,216,000 attributable to additional business generated by the DDS Group. 

Revenue from the DDS Group amounted $55,676,000. 

 The business combination has been effected at 1 January 2012.

29 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

 It was announced on 22 November 2013 that the Company is undertaking an internal restructuring exercise 

(“Restructuring Exercise”) to fully segregate the business and operations from the Company into its various 

subsidiaries to improve the operational effi ciency of the Company. 

 The entire manufacturing business, project management business and assets of the Group were previously in the 

Company which is both an operating company and a holding company for the Group’s two core businesses of 

manufacturing and project management. As part of the Restructuring Exercise, the Group’s two core businesses 

in various jurisdictions will be transferred gradually to the various subsidiaries of the Company with effect from 1 

January 2014.

 The Restructuring Exercise is intended to create distinct business segments within the Group to enable more 

effective management of each segment, enhance business focus and accountability within the Group. 

 In connection with the Restructuring Exercise, the Company had changed its name from “Design Studio Furniture 

Manufacturer Ltd” to “Design Studio Group Ltd”, approved by the shareholders in an Extraordinary General Meeting 

held on 10 January 2014.
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1. Aggregate value of all interested person transactions conducted under 

shareholder’s mandate

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested 

persons transactions during the 

review (excluding transactions less 

than $100,000 and transactions 

conducted under shareholders’ 

mandate pursuant to Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all interested 

person transactions conducted 

under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 

transactions less than $100,000)

Depa Interiors LLC & its associates $Nil $858,569

2. Material contracts

 There were no material contracts of the Group involving the interests of the executive directors or controlling 

shareholders subsisting at the end of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013. 

3. Major property

Location Description Tenure of land

Net book value

$’000

Held by the Company

8 Sungei Kadut Crescent,

Singapore 728682

Offi ce-cum factory 30 years commencing

1 June 1994

2,690
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Issued and fully paid up capital: S$33,390,983

Class of Shares: Ordinary Shares with equal voting rights   

Distribution of shareholdings 

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 999 3 0.79 1,646 0.00

1,000 - 10,000 241 63.59 1,175,809 0.45

10,001 - 1,000,000 130 34.30 6,129,000 2.36

1,000,001  AND ABOVE 5 1.32 252,957,716 97.19

TOTAL : 379 100.00 260,264,171 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. DEPA INTERIORS LLC            231,108,716 88.80

2. MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD 12,791,000 4.91

3. HO KAI HON                    5,050,000 1.94

4. CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.     2,008,000 0.77

5. LIM LENG FOO                  2,000,000 0.77

6. LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD  815,000 0.31

7. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 500,000 0.19

8. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 275,000 0.11

9. YEO LOO ENG                   160,000 0.06

10. ANG KIM HONG                  133,000 0.05

11. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    133,000 0.05

12. HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 122,000 0.05

13. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED  117,000 0.04

14. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 111,000 0.04

15. AW CHIEW KIM (HU SHUJIN)      100,000 0.04

16. GOH CHENG YEE                 100,000 0.04

17. MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  100,000 0.04

18. PATRICK LIM @ LIM KUAN CHI    100,000 0.04

19. TAN AIK SIN                   100,000 0.04

20. TAN HUI SIANG                 100,000 0.04

 TOTAL : 255,923,716 98.33
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the Company’s Shares 

The Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholder as at 11 March 

2014: 

 

Substantial Shareholder Direct Interest Deemed Interest 

No of shares % No of shares % 

Depa Interiors LLC 231,733,716 89.04   – – 

Shareholdings in hands of public

The percentage of shareholdings in the hand of public was approximately 10.19% as at 11 March 2014 and hence the 

Company has complied with Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of DESIGN STUDIO GROUP LTD (previously known as 

“Design Studio Furniture Manufacturer Ltd”) (the “Company”) will be held at the registered offi ce, 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, 

Singapore 728682 on Thursday 24 April 2014 at 10.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2013 and the Auditors’ Report thereon. [Resolution No. 1]

2. To re-elect the following directors who are retiring under the Company’s Articles of Association:

 

 Rotation under the Article 102 of the Articles of Association: -

 i) Bernard Lim Leng Foo [Resolution No. 2]

 ii) Tan Siok Chin [Resolution No. 3]

3. To approve the payment of additional directors’ fee of S$14,000 for the year ended 31 December 2013; 

and directors’ fees of S$310,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014, to be paid quarterly in arrears. 

(2013: S$338,125) [Resolution No. 4]

 

4. To approve the payment of a fi nal dividend of 1.00 cent per ordinary share and a special dividend of 5.00 cents per 

ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2013. [Resolution No. 5]

5. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company to hold offi ce until the conclusion of the next 

Annual General Meeting of the Company, and that the Directors be authorized to fi x their remuneration.

  [Resolution No. 6]

As Special Business:

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

6. “THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, Chapter 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (SGX-ST), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to (a) issue shares in 

the capital of the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise); (b) make or grant offers, agreements 

or options that might or would require shares to be issued or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase 

shares (collectively Instruments) including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other 

instruments convertible into shares; (c) issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number 

of Instruments previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues, at any time and upon such 

terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion 

deem fi t; and (d) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) to 

issue shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force, 

provided that:-

 (i) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in 

pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the issued 

shares in the capital of the Company, of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a 

pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 20% of the issued shares in the capital of 

the Company (excluding treasury shares) or such other limit as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST as at the 

date the general mandate is passed;

 (ii) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued (subject to such manner 

of calculation as may be prescribed by SGX-ST) under (i) above, the percentage of issued share capital 

(excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time 

this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for (1) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any 

convertible securities or share options or vesting of share  wards that are outstanding or subsisting when this 

Resolution is passed; and (2) any subsequent consolidation or sub-division of shares;
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 (iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the 

Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance is waived by the SGX-ST) 

and the Company’s Articles of Association; and

 unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.” [Resolution No. 7]

   

7.  THAT:-

 (a) approval be and is hereby given for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies or any of them 

to enter into transactions falling within the categories of Interested Person Transactions set out in paragraph 

3.2 of the Company’s Addendum to Shareholders dated 7 April 2014 (being an addendum to the Annual 

Report of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013) (the “Addendum”), with any 

party who is of the class or classes of Interested Persons described in paragraph 3.1 of the Addendum, 

provided that such transactions are made on normal commercial terms in accordance with the guidelines 

and procedures for Interested Person Transactions as set out in paragraph 4 of the Addendum (the 

“Shareholders’ Mandate”);

 (b) the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in 

force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and

 (c) the directors of the Company be and each of them be hereby authorised to complete and do all such 

acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they or he may consider 

expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/

or this Resolution. [Resolution No. 8]

8. THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant Options in accordance with the 

provisions of the Design Studio Employee Share Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) and to allot and issue from time to 

time such number of Shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise 

of the options under the Design Studio ESOS, the Design Studio PSP (as defi ned below) and all other share option 

or other share schemes of the Company, provided that the aggregate number of new Shares to be issued pursuant 

to the Design Studio ESOS and the Design Studio PSP shall not exceed 7.5% of the total number of issued Shares 

of the Company (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding that date. Such limit will be subject to a further 

sub-limit of 1.5% for every 2-year period on a cumulative basis during which the Design Studio ESOS and the 

Design Studio PSP are in force. Any unutilised per centum of the sub-limits in respect of any such 2-year period 

shall be available for roll-over and aggregated with the applicable sub-limit of 1.5% for the subsequent 2-year period 

for grants of Options and Awards. [Resolution No. 9]

9. THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to grant the Awards in accordance with the 

provisions of the Design Studio’s Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) and to allot, issue, transfer and/or deliver 

from time to time such number of fully paid-up Shares as may be required to be issued or delivered pursuant to 

the vesting of Awards under the Design Studio PSP, provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued 

or delivered pursuant to the Design Studio PSP, the Design Studio ESOS and all other share option or other share 

schemes of the Company shall not exceed 7.5% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company (excluding 

treasury shares) on the day preceding that date. Such limit will be subject to a further sub-limit of 1.5% for every 

2-year period on a cumulative basis during which the Design Studio ESOS and the Design Studio PSP are in force. 

Any unutilised per centum of the sub-limits in respect of any such 2-year period shall be available for roll-over 

and aggregated with the applicable sub-limit of 1.5% for the subsequent 2-year period for grants of Options and 

Awards. [Resolution No. 10]

By Order of the Board

Helen Campos

Company Secretary

7 April 2014
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Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 

proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. If the appointer is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised offi cer of attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Offi ce at No. 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, 

Singapore 728682, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding of the meeting.

Explanatory Notes on Ordinary Business to be transacted: 

a. Mr Bernard Lim Leng Foo is an Executive Director and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company. He is also a member of the 

Nominating Committee. If re-elected, he will remain as the Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company, as well as a member of the 

Nominating Committee.

b. Ms Tan Siok Chin is an Independent Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors and Remuneration Committee as well as a 

member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee. If re-elected, she will remain as Chairman of the Board of Directors 

and Remuneration Committee, as well as a member of the Audit and Nominating Committees.

c. The proposed directors’ fees of S$310,000 for the year ending 31 December 2014 are fees payable to non-Executive Directors. 

Ordinary Resolution No. 4 proposed in item 3 above, if passed, will allow the Company to pay fees to directors on a quarterly basis, 

in arrears, as directors render their services during the course of the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2014. This will facilitate 

directors’ compensation for services rendered in a more timely manner.

d. The Audit Committee has recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors. 

Explanatory Notes on Special Business to be transacted: -

e. Resolution No. 7 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such 

as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to a number not 

exceeding 50% for the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a 

pro rata basis to shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage 

of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at 

the time that Resolution No. 7 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 

securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution No. 7 is 

passed, and (b) any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of shares.

f. Resolution No. 8 if passed, will allow the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies or any of them to enter into certain 

interested person transactions with persons who are considered “Interested Persons” and will empower the directors of the 

Company from the date of this meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to do all acts necessary to give effect 

to the Shareholders Mandate or the Ordinary Resolution. Information relating to the renewal of the Shareholders Mandate can be 

found in the Addendum to this Notice.

g. Resolution No. 9, if passed, will empower the Directors, from the date of the Annual General Meeting until the date of the next 

annual general meeting of the Company, to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company up to an amount (which includes 

shares issued and/or issuable pursuant to any other existing share schemes or plan of the Company for the time being) not 

exceeding in total 7.5% of the issued share capital of the Company and subject to the sub-limit imposed for the time being pursuant 

to the exercise of the options under the ESOS.

h. Resolution No. 10, if passed, will empower the Directors, from the date of the Annual General Meeting until the date of the next 

annual general meeting of the Company, to grant Awards, allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company up to an amount 

(which includes shares issued and/or issuable pursuant to any other existing share schemes or plan of the Company for the time 

being) not exceeding in total 7.5% of the issued share capital of the Company and subject to the sub-limit imposed for the time 

being pursuant to the vesting of Awards under the PSP.



DESIGN STUDIO GROUP LTD
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number 199401553D)

PROXY FORM

*I/We 

of 

being *member/members of DESIGN STUDIO GROUP LTD (the “Company”), hereby appoint  

Name Address

NRIC/

Passport Number

Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Or failing him/her/them, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting or such other person the Chairman may designate, as 

my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual 

General Meeting of the Company to be held at 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, Singapore 728682 on Thursday, 24 April 2014 at 

10.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  

The Chairman intends to cast undirected proxy votes in favour of each of the proposed resolutions.  Where the Chairman is 

appointed as *my/our proxy/proxies, *I/we acknowledge that the Chairman may exercise **my/our proxy/proxies even if he 

has an interest in the outcome of the resolution.

I/We have indicated with an “X” in the appropriate box against such item how I/we wish my/our proxy/proxies to vote.  If no 

specifi c direction as to voting is given, my/our proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on 

any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1 Adoption of Reports and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 

2 Re-election of Mr Bernard Lim Leng Foo as a director

3 Re-election of Ms Tan Siok Chin as a director

4 Payment of directors’ fees

5 To approve the payment of the fi nal one-tier exempt dividend and special one-tier 

exempt dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013

6 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x 

their remuneration

7 Authority to issue Shares

8 To approve the renewal of the General Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

9 To authorise the Directors to allot/issue shares pursuant to the Design Studio Employee 

Share Option Scheme

10 To authorise the Directors to grant awards and allot/issue shares pursuant to the 

Design Studio Performance Share Plan

Dated this  day of April 2014.

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s) or  

Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

Important: Please read notes overleaf before completing the form

IMPORTANT

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy 

shares in Design Studio Group Ltd, this report is forwarded 

to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees 

and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and 

shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or 

purported to be used by them.

3. CPF Investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF 

Approved Nominees

Total Number of Shares held in:

CDP Register 

Register of Members



To: The Company Secretary

DESIGN STUDIO GROUP LTD
8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, 

Singapore 728682

Postage

Stamp

Fold along dotted line

Fold along dotted line

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES BELOW

1. Please insert the total number of shares you hold. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies 1. Please insert the total number of shares you hold. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies 

Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that 

number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should 

insert the aggregate number of such shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If you do not insert the aggregate number of such shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If you do not 

insert any number, we shall deem that the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies relates to all the shares which you hold.insert any number, we shall deem that the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies relates to all the shares which you hold.

2.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint no more than two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf and such proxy need 2.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint no more than two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf and such proxy need 

not be a member of the Company. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointment shall be deemed to be alternative unless he specifi es the proportion of his not be a member of the Company. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointment shall be deemed to be alternative unless he specifi es the proportion of his 

shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent Singapore 728682 not less than 48 3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 8 Sungei Kadut Crescent Singapore 728682 not less than 48 

hours before the time fi xed for the holding of the meeting.hours before the time fi xed for the holding of the meeting.

4.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a 4.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a 

proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of a director or an offi cer or attorney duly authorised. Where proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of a director or an offi cer or attorney duly authorised. Where 

an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter of power of attorney or duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter of power of attorney or duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing 

previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy , failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy , failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

5. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi  t to act as its representative at the 5. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fi  t to act as its representative at the 

meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

6.  The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the 6.  The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the 

appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of a member whose appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of a member whose 

shares are entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shares are entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not 

shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certifi ed by shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certifi ed by 

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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SINGAPORE

Design Studio Group Ltd

Head Office / Singapore 

Design Studio Singapore Pte Ltd

Factory / Singapore

8 Sungei Kadut Crescent, Singapore 728682

Tel: (65) 6367 0133 Fax: (65) 6366 2612

Email: corpcommunications@designstudio.com.sg

DDS Contracts and Interior Solutions Pte Ltd

Head Office / Singapore

62 Sungei Kadut Loop, #05-01  International Furniture Centre

Singapore 729507

Tel: (65) 6362 6366  Fax: (65) 6362 2622

Email: marketing@ddsasia.com.sg

MALAYSIA

DS Furniture Manufacturer Sdn Bhd

Senai Office / Malaysia

DS Project Management Sdn Bhd

Factory / Malaysia

PLO 44 Kawasan Perindustrian Senai

81400 Senai, Johor Bahru, Malaysia

Tel: (607) 598 6363 Fax: (607) 598 6368

DDS Contracts and Interior Solutions Sdn Bhd

18th Floor, West Block, Wisma Selangor Dredging

142C Jalan Ampang,50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Tel: (603) 2164 6686  Fax: (603) 2164 3393

Email: marketing@ddsasia.com.my 

CHINA

Design Studio (Huizhou) Home Furnishing Co., Ltd. 

Factory / China

1 North Road, Technology Park Buluo County, Shiwan Town

Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, Postal Code 516127

Tel: (86752) 636 0333  Fax: (86752) 611 6333

Sales Centre / Showroom / China 

Chiling Lane, Guan Tai Road, Houjie San Tun, Houjie Town

Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, Postal Code 523963

Tel: (86769) 8583 4222  Fax: (86769) 8581 7488

Email: marketing@designstudio.com.cn

Design Studio Furniture (Shanghai) Co., Ltd

Office / China

Henghui Building, Room 608,

568 Hengfeng Road, Shanghai, Postal Code 200070

Tel: (8621) 6303 1383  Fax: (8621) 5301 0331

Email: marketing@designstudio.com.cn
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: sales.uae@designstudio.com.sg

DDS

Euro Creations (B1)

119 55 10110

 (662) 712 7080 : (662) 712 7081

: marketing@ddsthailand.co.th

DUBAI

D S Interior Decoration (Middle East) LLC 

Dubai Office / Showroom / UAE

Al Reem Tower, 18th Floor,

Al Maktoum Street, Deira

P.O. Box 212896, Dubai U.A.E.

Tel: (9714) 341 9953 Fax: (9714) 341 9954

Email: sales.uae@designstudio.com.sg

THAILAND

DDS Contracts and Interior Solutions (Thailand) Co., Ltd

Euro Creations Building (B1)

119 Sukhumvit 55, North Klong Ton,

Wattana, Bangkok 10110 Thailand

Tel: (662) 712 7080  Fax: (662) 712 7081

Email: marketing@ddsthailand.co.th 

: (86752) 636 0333 : (86752) 611 6333


